

A Classification of Supersymmetric Kaluza–Klein Black Holes with a Single Axial Symmetry

David Katona

Abstract. We extend the recent classification of five-dimensional, supersymmetric asymptotically flat black holes with only a single axial symmetry to black holes with Kaluza-Klein asymptotics. This includes a similar class of solutions for which the supersymmetric Killing field is generically timelike, and the corresponding base (orbit space of the supersymmetric Killing field) is of multi-centred Gibbons-Hawking type. These solutions are determined by four harmonic functions on \mathbb{R}^3 with simple poles at the centres corresponding to connected components of the horizon, and fixed points of the axial symmetry. The allowed horizon topologies are S^3 , $S^2 \times S^1$, and lens space L(p,1), and the domain of outer communication may have non-trivial topology with non-contractible 2-cycles. The classification also reveals a novel class of supersymmetric (multi-)black rings for which the supersymmetric Killing field is globally null. These solutions are determined by two harmonic functions on \mathbb{R}^3 with simple poles at centres corresponding to horizon components. We determine the subclass of Kaluza-Klein black holes that can be dimensionally reduced to obtain smooth, supersymmetric, four-dimensional multi-black holes. This gives a classification of four-dimensional asymptotically flat supersymmetric multi-black holes first described by Denef et al.

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Supersymmetric Solutions in Five Dimensions with Axisymmetry
 - 2.1. Timelike Case with Axial Symmetry
 - 2.2. Null Case with Axial Symmetry
- 3. Asymptotics
 - 3.1. Asymptotic Form of Killing Fields

Published online: 08 February 2024



- 3.2. Chart at Spatial Infinity from Supersymmetry
- 4. Near-Horizon Analysis of Null Supersymmetric Solutions
 - 4.1. Classification of Null Supersymmetric Near-Horizon Geometries
 - 4.2. Imposing Axial Symmetry
- 5. Orbit Space and the General Global Solution
 - 5.1. Orbit Space Analysis and Invariants
 - 5.2. General Global Solution
- 6. Regularity and Asymptotic Conditions
 - 6.1. Timelike Case
 - 6.2. Null Case
- 7. Classification Theorem for Supersymmetric Kaluza–Klein Black Holes
- 8. A Classification of Four-Dimensional Supersymmetric Black Holes from Kaluza–Klein Reduction

Acknowledgements

Appendix A: Asymptotic Fall-Off of Riemann Tensor

Appendix B: Killing Spinor Equation in Four and Five Dimensions

References

1. Introduction

Black holes are in the focus of gravitational research. In four-dimensional vacuum gravity, or Einstein–Maxwell theory, asymptotically flat black holes have a surprisingly simple moduli space due to the well-known uniqueness theorems (see e.g. [1,2]). In contrast, higher-dimensional general relativity has a much richer structure, and black hole uniqueness does not hold even in the asymptotically flat vacuum case (for review, see e.g. [3]), which became clear with the discovery of rotating vacuum black holes with $S^2 \times S^1$ horizon topology, known as black rings [4]. Rather surprisingly, for a range of asymptotic charges, black rings coexist with the spherical Myers-Perry black holes [5], providing an explicit example of non-uniqueness.

Much is known in general about higher-dimensional stationary black holes. The topology of the horizon is restricted to be of positive Yamabe type, i.e. they admit metrics with positive scalar curvature [6], which becomes less restrictive as we go to higher dimensions. Further restrictions have been derived in the literature for black holes with an axial symmetry [7]. This assumption was motivated by the rigidity theorem, which states that analytic solutions with rotating black holes must also admit an axial U(1) symmetry [8–10]. The topology of the domain of outer communication (DOC) is also restricted by topological censorship. In the asymptotically flat case, it is required to be simply connected [11]. This has been generalised to asymptotically Kaluza–Klein spacetimes [12], where the quotient space of the DOC by the symmetry group corresponding to translations in the compact dimensions must be simply connected. In cases when the spacetime admits biaxial $U(1)^2$ symmetry, a uniqueness theorem for black holes has also been established [13–15]; however,

it has been conjectured (for the vacuum case) that solutions with fewer symmetries must exist [16]. Evidence for the existence of such solutions has long been gathering in the literature [17,18], but the first explicit examples have been constructed only recently in five-dimensional supergravity [19].

Black hole non-uniqueness is also present in higher-dimensional supergravity theories, even among supersymmetric solutions. For five-dimensional minimal supergravity, the first known black hole was the BMPV solution [20] with a spherical horizon. Later, a black ring solution [21] and concentric black ring/black hole solutions [22] were also found. Asymptotic charges of the latter one can overlap with those of the BMPV solution, and even more surprisingly, they can have greater total horizon area than the corresponding BMPV solution. This has since been shown for even single-black hole solutions of this theory [23,24]. This finding is particularly puzzling, given that the microscopic derivation of Bekenstein–Hawking entropy in string theory for given charges matches the entropy of the BMPV solution [20,25]. This 'entropy enigma' is yet to be resolved, but microscopic counting of entropy provides further motivation to determine the moduli space of supersymmetric black holes.

Although the full moduli space is yet to be explored, this theory is known to admit various black hole solutions. On top of the aforementioned spherical and ring solutions, black holes with lens space horizons L(p,1) have been constructed with flat asymptotics [24,26–29], but later also with Kaluza–Klein asymptotics [30]. An important feature that contributes to the richness of solutions is that this theory admits solitonic solutions, termed 'bubbling spacetimes', which are smooth, horizonless solutions admitting non-trivial topology in the form of non-trivial 2-cycles, supported by magnetic fluxes of the Maxwell field [31,32]. It is also possible to construct black hole solutions with 'bubbling' domain of outer communication, which include examples that contribute to the single black hole entropy enigma mentioned above [23,24,33].

The general local form of a supersymmetric solution of minimal five-dimensional supergravity is known [34,35]. Using Killing spinor bilinears, one can show that such a solution admits a globally defined causal Killing field, a scalar function, and three 2-forms. When the supersymmetric Killing field is timelike, the solution takes the form of a timelike fibration over a hyper-Kähler base manifold for which the three supersymmetric 2-forms are the complex structures. Furthermore, if the solution admits a triholomorphic U(1) isometry (i.e. an isometry that preserves the complex structures of the base), the base manifold takes the form of a multi-centred Gibbons-Hawking space [36–38], and the solution is locally fully determined by four harmonic functions on \mathbb{R}^3 [34]. This is the case if the spacetime has biaxial symmetry $(U(1)^2)$ [29], or a single axial symmetry which preserves the Killing spinor [19].

Using the aforementioned local results, a number of classification theorems have been proven for supersymmetric black holes. The near-horizon geometries have been determined in [16] (assuming that the supersymmetric

Killing field becomes timelike outside the horizon), and the possible geometries are locally isometric to S^3 or $S^2 \times S^1$. In the asymptotically flat case, global results are known as well. First it was shown that a locally spherical black hole with a supersymmetric Killing field that is timelike on the domain of outer communication must be isometric to the BMPV solution [16]. This assumption, however, is restrictive and excludes the majority of the moduli space of black holes (black lenses and black holes in bubbling spacetimes). A common feature of all near-horizon geometries, and in fact all the solutions mentioned so far, is biaxial $(U(1)^2)$ isometry. In [29], a classification of asymptotically flat black hole solutions with such symmetry has been achieved. These solutions have Gibbons–Hawking base with the associated harmonic functions having simple poles at collinear centres on \mathbb{R}^3 , corresponding to horizon components or fixed points of the triholomorphic U(1) symmetry.

Recently, these results have been generalised to asymptotically flat solutions admitting only a single axial symmetry that preserves the Killing spinor [19]. Similarly to the biaxial case, these solutions are of multi-centred type, with harmonic functions having simple poles at generic (not necessarily collinear) points. This provided the first explicit construction of a higher-dimensional asymptotically flat black hole with just a single axial symmetry, confirming the conjecture of [16] for supersymmetric black holes.

In this paper, we will focus on asymptotically Kaluza–Klein solutions, which are asymptotically diffeomorphic to a circle fibration over flat Minkowski space. This includes trivial circle products, and also non-trivial fibrations like the Kaluza-Klein monopole. Many explicit Kaluza-Klein black hole solutions of five-dimensional supergravity are known in the literature [30, 39–50]; furthermore, a uniqueness theorem for non-supersymmetric, biaxisymmetric, spherical black holes of this theory has also been proven [51]. A classification of more general or supersymmetric solutions is not yet available, however. The main motivation of studying such solutions is that they can be dimensionally reduced to four dimensions, which might have more physical relevance for our universe. For five-dimensional minimal supergravity, the bosonic sector of the reduced theory contains gravity, two Maxwell fields, and two scalars, a dilaton and an axion. Previously, an interesting connection has been unveiled between five-dimensional Kaluza-Klein and four-dimensional asymptotically flat black holes of supergravity theories [39, 40, 52, 53]. Five-dimensional supersymmetric (multi-)black holes/rings with Taub-NUT base space correspond to (multiblack hole solutions of the four-dimensional theory first derived by Denef et al. [54–56].

The purpose of this paper is to generalise the results of [19] to Kaluza–Klein asymptotics, and classify all supersymmetric black hole or soliton solutions with an axial symmetry that 'commutes' with the supersymmetry, i.e. it preserves the Killing spinor. The latter assumption is the supersymmetric generalisation of the usual requirement that the axial symmetry commutes with the stationary symmetry. Furthermore, when considering reductions of

¹In [16], T³ has also been derived as a possible geometry; however, it is excluded by [6].

the solutions to 4D, as a result of this assumption we obtain supersymmetric solutions in the lower dimensional theory.

The main difference to the asymptotically flat case is that the supersymmetric Killing field is no longer naturally identified with the stationary Killing field. Instead, we assume that the stationary Killing field is a constant linear combination of the axial and supersymmetric Killing fields. This leads to—from the five-dimensional perspective—two qualitatively different classes of solutions depending on whether the supersymmetric Killing field is timelike on a dense submanifold or globally null. The former one is similar to the one found in the asymptotically flat case [19], and its classification is provided by the following theorem (for the full statement, see Theorem 2).

Theorem A. A supersymmetric, asymptotically Kaluza–Klein (in the sense of Definition 1) black hole or soliton solution of D=5 minimal supergravity with an axial symmetry that preserves the Killing spinor and a supersymmetric Killing field that is not globally null must have a Gibbons–Hawking base (on a dense submanifold), and is globally determined by four associated harmonic functions on \mathbb{R}^3 which are of 'multi-centred' form, with parameters satisfying a set of algebraic constraints. The centres either correspond to fixed points of the axial Killing field, or connected components of the horizon, each of which has topology S^3 , L(p,1) or $S^2 \times S^1$.

Despite the similarity to the asymptotically flat classification, there are technical differences in its proof. The main complication comes from the fact that the DOC is not simply connected in general, hence certain closed 1-forms do not necessarily define the global functions that play a key role in the asymptotically flat proof. In order to overcome this, first we show that the axial Killing field must be tangent to the Kaluza–Klein direction, then after excluding the possibility of orbits with a discrete isotropy group (exceptional orbits), we apply topological censorship to deduce simple connectedness of the orbit space of the axial Killing field [12]. This allows us to define certain U(1)-invariant functions globally. From this point, the proof is almost identical to that of the asymptotically flat case.

The lack of exceptional orbits follows purely from the axial Killing field preserving three linearly independent two-forms (Killing spinor bilinears, which are the complex structures of the hyper-Kähler base in the timelike case). This result, together with the orientability of the spacetime, restricts the possible horizon topologies to S^3 , L(p,1) or $S^2 \times S^1$. These are the only allowed Seifert three-manifolds (with orientable fibres and base) that do not contain any orbifold points. Such orbifold points would require the presence of exceptional orbits in the DOC [7], which are ruled out as mentioned above.

Even in the case when the supersymmetric Killing field is timelike on a dense submanifold, the limit of its norm at infinity can be zero. We call this case asymptotically null, in contrast to the asymptotically timelike case, when we normalise the supersymmetric Killing field to have unit norm at infinity. These should not be confused with the globally null case, which we detail next.

²Only orbifolds with positive Euler characteristic are allowed [7].

The other main class of solutions contains spacetimes on which the supersymmetric Killing field is globally null, for which we have the following result (the full statement can be found in Theorem 3).

Theorem B. An asymptotically Kaluza–Klein (in the sense of Definition 1), supersymmetric black hole or soliton solution of D=5 minimal supergravity with an axial Killing field W preserving the Killing spinor and for which the supersymmetric Killing field V is globally null has a metric of the form

$$g = -\frac{1}{\mathcal{G}}(\mathcal{Q}du^2 + 2dudv) + \mathcal{G}^2dx^idx^i, \tag{1}$$

where $W = \partial_u$, $V = \partial_v$, and \mathcal{G} , \mathcal{Q} are harmonic functions on \mathbb{R}^3 with simple poles at centres corresponding to connected components of the horizon, each with topology $S^2 \times S^1$.

To our knowledge, these 'null' Kaluza–Klein black ring solutions have not been previously described. Similar 'null' solutions have been previously found in [57], which describe static black strings, those, however, cannot be compactified to obtain smooth, asymptotically Kaluza–Klein black holes; hence, they are not part of our classification. As the supersymmetric Killing field does not become timelike outside the horizon in this case, the proof of the near-horizon classification in [16] is no longer valid. Therefore, we extend this near-horizon analysis (with no symmetry assumptions) to the null case, and we find that the near-horizon geometry in the null case agrees with the null limit of the timelike case. This is in agreement with the results of [58] in which it has been shown that near-horizon geometries of this theory are necessarily maximally supersymmetric.

It turns out that, if one relaxes a condition on the harmonic functions of Theorem A so that they allow the supersymmetric Killing field to be globally null (which is a priori not clear that one is allowed to do), then one obtains precisely the solutions of Theorem B. Presumably, this is because they have common higher-dimensional origin, as both timelike and null solutions can be uplifted—at least locally—to obtain supersymmetric solutions of six-dimensional minimal supergravity [59]. A general feature of the six-dimensional solutions is that the supersymmetric Killing field is null everywhere, similarly to the solutions in Theorem B. Interestingly, the Cartesian coordinates in both Theorem A and B (those of the Gibbons–Hawking base, and x^i in (1), respectively) originate from a Gibbons–Hawking base that is used to construct the six-dimensional solutions. It would be interesting to investigate the classification from a six-dimensional perspective.

In all cases, we find that the axial Killing field is tangent to the Kaluza–Klein direction; thus, it is natural to consider the reduction of these solutions to four dimensions, which are also supersymmetric. We prove that the obtained four-dimensional solution is smooth on and outside the horizon, provided that there are no fixed points of the U(1) Killing field. This is automatically true in the null class, but restricts the timelike class. Conversely, given a four-dimensional supersymmetric, asymptotically flat black hole solution of a certain four-dimensional supergravity with two scalar fields and Maxwell fields,

it uplifts to a supersymmetric, asymptotically Kaluza–Klein solution of minimal supergravity in D=5. A condition for a smooth uplift is that one of the Maxwell fields corresponds to a principal U(1)-bundle, and hence, its magnetic charges are quantised. Thus, with this assumption, we obtain a classification theorem of four-dimensional supersymmetric black holes of the theory (for the detailed statement, see Theorem 6).

Theorem C. Consider a supersymmetric, asymptotically flat black hole solution of D=4 $\mathcal{N}=2$ supergravity coupled to a vector multiplet in which one of the Maxwell fields is the curvature of a connection on a principal U(1)-bundle over the spacetime. Furthermore, assume that the supersymmetric Killing field is timelike on the DOC. Then, the solution must belong to the class of multiblack holes derived in [54–56].

The structure of this paper and the proof of theorems are as follows: In Sect. 2, we briefly summarise the general form of such solutions based on [34] and present the local solutions in the timelike and null case separately. In Sect. 3, we derive that the U(1) Killing field must be tangent to the Kaluza– Klein direction, by using that it preserves the Killing spinor bilinears, showing that any Killing field must approach that of a flat space with a compact direction. In Sect. 4, we perform a near-horizon analysis of the null case (following and completing that of [16]). In Sect. 5, we analyse the structure of the orbit space. In particular, we show that any exceptional orbits are excluded; then, using topological censorship [12], we show that the Cartesian coordinates defined by the axial Killing field and the two-form bilinears define a global chart on the orbit space. This also restricts the general form of the solution to those with associated harmonic functions having simple poles in both the null and timelike cases. In Sect. 6, we derive the sufficient conditions for smoothness of such multi-centred solutions. In Sect. 7, we state and prove the main classification theorems (Theorem 2–3). In Sect. 8, we perform a Kaluza–Klein reduction to four dimensions and show that the four-dimensional solution is smooth on and outside the horizon, provided there are no fixed points of the axial symmetry in 5D. Finally, we use this correspondence to prove a classification theorem for four-dimensional asymptotically flat black hole solutions to minimal supergravity coupled to a vector multiplet (Theorem 6).

2. Supersymmetric Solutions in Five Dimensions with Axisymmetry

The theory in consideration is the bosonic sector of five-dimensional minimal supergravity, given by the action

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int R \star 1 - 2F \wedge \star F - \frac{8}{3\sqrt{3}} F \wedge F \wedge A, \tag{2}$$

where F = dA. We work in the conventions of [16], so the signature of the metric is 'mostly plus'. The most general *local* form of a supersymmetric solution has been derived in [34] using Killing spinor bilinears which globally define a

function f, a vector field V, and three 2-forms $X^{(i)}$, i = 1, 2, 3. These satisfy the following algebraic equations.

$$g(V,V) = -f^2, (3)$$

$$\iota_V X^{(i)} = 0, \tag{4}$$

$$\iota_V \star X^{(i)} = -fX^{(i)},\tag{5}$$

$$X_{\mu\lambda}^{(i)} X_{\nu}^{(j)\lambda} = \delta_{ij} (f^2 g_{\mu\nu} + V_{\mu} V_{\nu}) - f \epsilon_{ijk} X_{\mu\nu}^{(k)}, \tag{6}$$

where ϵ_{ijk} is the Levi–Civita symbol with $\epsilon_{123} = 1$. Using the Killing spinor equation, one further obtains

$$\mathrm{d}f = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{3}}\iota_V F,\tag{7}$$

$$\nabla_{(\mu}V_{\nu)} = 0, \tag{8}$$

$$dV = -\frac{4}{\sqrt{3}}fF - \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \star (F \wedge V), \tag{9}$$

$$\nabla_{\mu} X_{\nu\rho}^{(i)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \Big(2F_{\mu}{}^{\sigma} (\star X^{(i)})_{\sigma\nu\rho} - 2F_{[\nu}{}^{\sigma} (\star X^{(i)})_{\rho]\mu\sigma} + g_{\mu[\nu} F^{\sigma\kappa} (\star X^{(i)})_{\rho]\sigma\kappa} \Big). \tag{10}$$

In particular, V is Killing, $X^{(i)}$ are closed, and V preserves $X^{(i)}$ and the Maxwell field. Further specification of the local solution depends on whether V is timelike or null in some open region, which we will describe in detail in the following sections.

In this paper, we are considering asymptotically Kaluza–Klein spacetimes, for which we use the following definition.

Definition 1. (\mathcal{M}, g) is stationary and asymptotically Kaluza–Klein, if

- (i) the domain of outer communication (DOC), denoted by $\langle\langle\mathcal{M}\rangle\rangle$, has an end diffeomorphic to $\mathbb{R} \times \Sigma_0$, with Σ_0 being a circle fibration over $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus B^3$, where B^3 denotes a 3-ball, and the \mathbb{R} factor corresponds to orbits of a timelike Killing field (stationary Killing field),
- (ii) the metric on this end can be written as: $g_{\mu\nu} = \tilde{g}_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau})$ for some decay rate $\tau > 0$ and

$$\tilde{g} = -\mathrm{d}u^0 \mathrm{d}u^0 + \delta_{ij} \mathrm{d}u^i \mathrm{d}u^j + \tilde{L}^2 \mathrm{d}\tilde{\psi}^2, \tag{11}$$

where \tilde{L} is a positive constant, u^0 and $(u^i)_{i=1}^3$ are the pull-back of the Cartesian coordinates on $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^3$, i.e. ∂_0 is the stationary Killing field, and $\tilde{r} := \sqrt{u^i u^j \delta_{ij}}$, $\tilde{\psi}$ is a 4π -periodic coordinate on the fibres, and in these coordinates $\partial_i^l \partial_{\tilde{\tau}}^k g_{\nu\rho} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-l})$ for $1 \le k+l \le 3$,

(iii) the components of the Ricci tensor in these coordinates fall off as $R_{\mu\nu} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2})$ and its \mathbb{R}^3 derivatives as $\partial_i R_{\mu\nu} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2})$.

Remarks.

1. Definition 1 only requires that the spacetime is a circle fibration at infinity. This includes trivial fibrations (standard Kaluza–Klein asymptotics),

as well as non-trivial fibrations such as the Kaluza–Klein monopole. In terms of the 'sphere' at infinity, Definition 1 allows not only $S^2 \times S^1$, but also spherical geometries such as (squashed) S^3 or lens spaces, when the fibration is non-trivial. The nature of the fibration is determined by subleading terms (in coordinates of Definition 1) in the metric (see later in Sect. 6.1.1).

- 2. Definition 1 requires that the circle direction has bounded length at infinity. It is motivated by the physical picture that one obtains a four-dimensional effective description when the Kaluza–Klein direction is small enough. Alternatively, one may consider different definitions, such as cubic volume growth of a spatial slice at infinity. This alternative definition also allows for the possibility of a spatial geometry such as the Euclidean Kerr instanton, where the circle direction has unbounded length. Such spacetimes are not included in the present work. Nevertheless, it is an interesting question whether such supersymmetric solutions exist.
- 3. The fall-off of the components of the Ricci tensor is in fact equivalent (through the Einstein equations) to requiring that the Maxwell field falls off as $F \sim \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau/2-1})$ at spatial infinity. This can be seen by looking at T_{00} , which is a positive definite quadratic in the components of the Maxwell field. The fall-off for the third derivative of the metric and the derivative of the Ricci tensor is a technical assumption, to ensure that components of the Riemann tensor fall off as $R^{\mu}_{\nu\lambda\kappa} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2})$ as shown in Appendix A. Alternatively, one can assume the fall-off of the Riemann tensor directly.

We now list our assumptions. These are, except for asymptotics, equivalent to Assumptions 1 and 2 of [19]. We assume that (\mathcal{M}, g, F) is a solution of (2) such that

- (i) it admits a globally defined Killing spinor ϵ (i.e. supersymmetric),
- (ii) the DOC is globally hyperbolic, that is, it admits a Cauchy surface Σ ,
- (iii) the spacetime is stationary and asymptotically Kaluza–Klein as in Definition 1,
- (iv) the supersymmetric Killing field V is complete,
- (v) the horizon \mathcal{H} admits a smooth, compact cross-section (which may not be connected),
- (vi) the closure of the Cauchy surface Σ in \mathcal{M} is a union of a compact set and an asymptotically Kaluza–Klein end,
- (vii) (\mathcal{M}, g) admits a smooth Killing field W with periodic orbits that preserves the Killing spinor ϵ and the Maxwell field F,
- (viii) the stationary Killing field is an \mathbb{R} -linear combination of V and W,
- (ix) at each point of the DOC there exists a timelike linear combination of V and W.
- (x) the metric and the Maxwell field are smooth (C^{∞}) on and outside the horizon.

From global hyperbolicity of the DOC and completeness of V follows that the DOC has topology $\langle\langle\mathcal{M}\rangle\rangle\simeq\mathbb{R}\times\Sigma$, where Σ is a smooth manifold, which we can identify with the orbit space of V.³

We emphasise that we do *not* assume that the stationary Killing field coincides with the supersymmetric Killing field, in contrast to the asymptotically flat solutions considered in [19]. Neither do we assume that the axial Killing field is tangent to the Kaluza–Klein direction at infinity. In Sect. 3, we show that the latter is indeed true, so the U(1) Killing field (and the length of its orbits) is bounded in the asymptotic region. This means that its linear combination with the causal vector field V can be timelike, so assumption (viii) is natural to make. The solution in the coordinates adapted to these Killing fields generally will not be in the rest frame. Indeed, this is the case for the asymptotically Kaluza–Klein black holes considered in [30,39].

Another important difference to the asymptotically flat case is that in general the DOC is not simply connected. Therefore, we cannot a priori assume that closed 1-forms globally define scalar functions. However, in Sect. 5 we will show that this is indeed the case for the U(1)-invariant one-forms considered during the proof.

An important consequence of assumption (vii) is that all the Killing spinor bilinears are preserved by W, that is

$$W(f) = 0, [V, W] = 0, \mathcal{L}_W X^{(i)} = 0.$$
 (12)

The assumption that W preserves F is redundant. We will see that either the timelike or null region is dense in the DOC, and in both cases F can be expressed by U(1)-invariant quantities (17) and (37). Thus, by continuity of $\mathcal{L}_W F$, the Maxwell field is U(1)-invariant everywhere.

2.1. Timelike Case with Axial Symmetry

Let us define $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} \subset \langle \langle \mathcal{M} \rangle \rangle$ as the region where $f \neq 0$, that is, where V is timelike. Around each point of $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$, one can define a local chart in which the metric is given by

$$g|_{\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}} = -f^2(\mathrm{d}t + \omega)^2 + \frac{1}{f}h,\tag{13}$$

where $V = \partial_t$, ω and h is a 1-form and metric on the four-dimensional Riemannian base manifold $\mathcal{B} := \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}/\mathbb{R}_V \subset \Sigma$. Note that h is invariantly defined on $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$, and ω is defined by $\iota_V \omega = 0$ and $\mathrm{d}\omega = -\mathrm{d}(f^{-2}V)$ up to a gradient. Since $\mathcal{L}_V X^{(i)} = \iota_V X^{(i)} = 0$, $X^{(i)}$ can be regarded as 2-forms on \mathcal{B} . Using properties of the Killing spinor, one can show that $(\mathcal{B}, h, X^{(i)})$ is hyper-Kähler, i.e. ⁴

$$\nabla_a^{(h)} X_{bc}^{(i)} = 0, (14)$$

$$X_{ac}^{(i)}X_{b}^{(j)c} = -\delta_{ij}h_{ab} + \epsilon_{ijk}X_{ab}^{(k)}, \tag{15}$$

³ See remark 2 after Assumption 1 in [19].

⁴ Unless otherwise stated, Greek letters μ, ν ... denote spacetime indices, while Latin letters a, b, c... denote base space indices, and i, j, k... denote \mathbb{R}^3 indices. Indices are raised and lowered with g, h and δ on the spacetime, base space, and \mathbb{R}^3 , respectively.

$$\star_h X^{(i)} = -X^{(i)},\tag{16}$$

where $\nabla^{(h)}$ is the Levi–Civita connection of h, and \star_h denotes the Hodge star on the base with orientation η defined by the spacetime orientation $f(\mathrm{d}t+\omega)\wedge\eta$. On $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$, the Maxwell field is given by:

$$F = -\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \operatorname{d}\left(\frac{V}{f}\right) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} G^{+},\tag{17}$$

where $G^+ = \frac{1}{2}(1 + \star_h)fd\omega$.

From our assumptions, using Lemma 1 of [19] it follows that the two Killing fields commute, and W defines a triholomorphic U(1) action on \mathcal{B} (i.e. $\mathcal{L}_W X^{(i)} = 0$). We will use the gauge $\mathcal{L}_W t = 0$, thus W also preserves ω . It is well known that a hyper-Kähler four-manifold with triholomorphic U(1) action can locally be written in Gibbons-Hawking form [38]

$$h = \frac{1}{H} (\mathrm{d}\psi + \chi)^2 + H \mathrm{d}x^i \mathrm{d}x^i, \tag{18}$$

where x^i , i = 1, 2, 3 are Cartesian coordinates on \mathbb{R}^3 , $W = \partial_{\psi}$, H is a harmonic function on \mathbb{R}^3 , and the 1-form χ satisfies

$$\star_3 \, \mathrm{d}\chi = \mathrm{d}H. \tag{19}$$

Here \star_3 denotes the usual Hodge star operator on \mathbb{R}^3 with respect to the Euclidean metric. In this chart, the Cartesian coordinates are related to $X^{(i)}$ via

$$\mathrm{d}x^i = \iota_W X^{(i)}.\tag{20}$$

Note that (20) can be regarded as an equation on $\mathcal{B} \subset \Sigma$, as both $X^{(i)}$ and W can be regarded as tensors on Σ , the orbit space of V. An important difference to the asymptotically flat case is that (20) does not define the functions x^i globally on the DOC.

A useful result of [34] is that if the solution admits a U(1) Killing field commuting with V that is also triholomorphic on \mathcal{B} , then the whole solution is *locally* determined by H and three further harmonic functions, K, L, M on \mathbb{R}^3 as follows. Let us define a function and two 1-forms (up to a gradient) on \mathbb{R}^3 by

$$\omega_{\psi} = \frac{K^3}{H^2} + \frac{3}{2} \frac{KL}{H} + M,\tag{21}$$

$$\star_3 \mathrm{d}\hat{\omega} = H\mathrm{d}M - M\mathrm{d}H + \frac{3}{2}(K\mathrm{d}L - L\mathrm{d}K),\tag{22}$$

$$\star_3 \mathrm{d}\xi = -\mathrm{d}K. \tag{23}$$

Then, f and ω can be written as:

$$f = \frac{H}{K^2 + HL},\tag{24}$$

$$\omega = \omega_{\psi}(\mathrm{d}\psi + \chi) + \hat{\omega} , \qquad (25)$$

while the Maxwell field takes the form

$$F = dA = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}d\left(f(dt + \omega) - \frac{K}{H}(d\psi + \chi) - \xi\right).$$
 (26)

We would like to emphasise again that this is a fully *local* result on $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$. Given a local solution, the corresponding set of harmonic functions H, K, L, M is not unique. Indeed, one can check that

$$H' = H, \quad K' = K + cH, \quad L' = L - 2cK - c^2H,$$

$$M' = M - \frac{3}{2}cL + \frac{3}{2}c^2K + \frac{1}{2}c^3H$$
(27)

vield the same solution for any $c \in \mathbb{R}$.

Following [29], let us define a key spacetime invariant as

$$N := - \begin{vmatrix} g(V, V) & g(V, W) \\ g(W, V) & g(W, W) \end{vmatrix} = \frac{f}{H} = \frac{1}{K^2 + HL} = (-\det g)^{-1/2},$$
 (28)

where the last three equalities are valid on \mathcal{M} when N > 0. Note that N is preserved by both Killing fields, and its zeros in $\langle \langle \mathcal{M} \rangle \rangle$ exactly coincide with $\mathcal{F} = \{ p \in \langle \langle \mathcal{M} \rangle \rangle | W_p = 0 \}$ by our assumption that the span of Killing fields is timelike on $\langle \langle \mathcal{M} \rangle \rangle$ [19]. It is also worth noting that from (20) and (6) we have

$$g^{-1}(\mathrm{d}x^i,\mathrm{d}x^j) = N\delta^{ij} \tag{29}$$

irrespective of whether V is timelike.

We now use the facts above to prove the following result for a general (not necessarily timelike) solution.

Lemma 1. Either $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$ is dense in $\langle\langle \mathcal{M} \rangle\rangle$ or V is null on $\langle\langle \mathcal{M} \rangle\rangle$.

Proof. Let \mathcal{N} be the set on which V is null in the DOC, i.e. $\mathcal{N} := f^{-1}(\{0\}) \cap \langle \langle \mathcal{M} \rangle \rangle$. This is closed in the DOC by the continuity of f, hence $\mathcal{N} = \operatorname{int} \mathcal{N} \cup \partial \mathcal{N}$. If $\operatorname{int} \mathcal{N} = \emptyset$, then $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$ is dense in $\langle \langle \mathcal{M} \rangle \rangle$. If $\operatorname{int} \mathcal{N} \neq \emptyset$, then assume for contradiction that there exists some $p \in \partial \operatorname{int} \mathcal{N}$, and look at a simply connected neighbourhood U of p in $\langle \langle \mathcal{M} \rangle \rangle$. Since U is simply connected, we can integrate (20) to obtain $\mathbf{x} = (x^1, x^2, x^3) : U \to \mathbb{R}^3$. Since f(p) = 0, p is not a fixed point of W (otherwise the span of Killing fields would be null contradicting assumption (ix)). It follows that N(p) > 0, and thus, by continuity it is also positive on (a possibly smaller) U, and by (29), \mathbf{x} is a submersion, therefore open. We extend the definition of H to U by H := f/N, which is smooth on U and harmonic on the open set $\mathbf{x}(U) \subset \mathbb{R}^3$. In particular, it is zero on the open set $\mathbf{x}(U \cap \operatorname{int} \mathcal{N})$. Since H is harmonic and therefore analytic in x^i , it follows that $H \equiv 0$ on U, but then $f \equiv 0$ on U, which is a contradiction. We conclude that $\partial \operatorname{int} \mathcal{N} = \emptyset$, and hence, it must be that $\mathcal{N} = \langle \langle \mathcal{M} \rangle \rangle$, so V is null on $\langle \langle \mathcal{M} \rangle \rangle$.

In the context of classifying *global* solutions, we will refer to the first case in Lemma 1 as *timelike case* and to the latter one as *null case*.

2.2. Null Case with Axial Symmetry

In this section, we consider the case where V is null on the DOC. The metric locally takes the form [34]

$$g = -\mathcal{G}^{-1}(\mathcal{Q}du^2 + 2dudv) + \mathcal{G}^2(dx^i + b^i du)(dx^i + b^i du), \tag{30}$$

where $Q(u, \mathbf{x})$, $b^i(u, \mathbf{x})$ are functions, $G(u, \mathbf{x})$ for each u is a harmonic function on \mathbb{R}^3 with cartesian coordinates x^i (i.e. $\partial_i \partial_i G(u, \mathbf{x}) = 0$), $V = \partial_v$, and

$$X^{(i)} = \mathrm{d}u \wedge \mathrm{d}x^i. \tag{31}$$

We now assume the existence of an axial Killing field that preserves V and $X^{(i)}$ and deduce the following lemma.

Lemma 2. For any point in $\langle\langle \mathcal{M} \rangle\rangle$, there exist local coordinates in which the metric takes the form (30) and the Killing field $W = \partial_u$, hence $\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{Q}, b^i$ only depend on x^i .

Proof. We will use properties of W together with the gauge freedoms that preserve the form of the solution [34]. From $[V, W] = 0 \implies W^{\mu} = W^{\mu}(u, x^{i})$, and

$$0 = \mathcal{L}_W V^{\flat} = \left(\frac{W(\mathcal{G})}{\mathcal{G}^2} - \frac{\partial_u W^u}{\mathcal{G}}\right) du - \frac{\partial_i W^u}{\mathcal{G}} dx^i, \tag{32}$$

so W^u only depends on u. Note that $N=(W^u)^2/\mathcal{G}^2>0$ on $\langle\langle\mathcal{M}\rangle\rangle$, thus $W^u(u)\neq 0$. We define $\mathrm{d}u'=(W^u(u))^{-1}\mathrm{d}u$, $\mathcal{G}'=\mathcal{G}/W^u$, and $x^{i\prime}=W^ux^i$ so that the forms of $g,V,X^{(i)}$ are unchanged, while in these coordinates $W=\partial_{u'}+W^{i\prime}\partial_{i'}+W^v\partial_{v}$. Then, in the new coordinates (omitting primes)

$$0 = \mathcal{L}_W X^{(i)} = d\left(\iota_W X^{(i)}\right) = d(dx^i - W^i du) = du \wedge dW^i, \tag{33}$$

which implies $\partial_j W^i = 0$, i.e. $W^i = W^i(u)$. The coordinate transformation $x^{i'} = x^i + v^i(u)$ preserves the form of the solution (after redefining \mathcal{Q} and \mathbf{b}), and the choice $\mathrm{d} v^i / \mathrm{d} u = -W^i(u)$ yields $W = \partial_u + W^v \partial_v$. Finally, the remaining gauge freedom allows us to change the $v = \mathrm{const}$ surfaces by $v' = v + h(u, \mathbf{x})$. With $\partial_u h(u, \mathbf{x}) = -W^v(u, \mathbf{x})$, the axial Killing field becomes $W = \partial_u$ as claimed. In this coordinate system, all metric functions are independent of u.

It is useful to note that the remaining gauge freedom that preserves the form of the metric, the two-forms $X^{(i)}$, and the Killing fields is

$$v' = v + h(\mathbf{x}). \tag{34}$$

This, however, changes Q and b as [34]

$$Q' = Q - 2b^{i}\partial_{i}h + \mathcal{G}^{-3}\partial_{i}h\partial_{i}h, \qquad \mathbf{b}' = \mathbf{b} - \mathcal{G}^{-3}dh, \tag{35}$$

hence these quantities are not gauge-invariant.

The lack of dependence on u simplifies the analysis of [34], and the full solution can be obtained as follows. b^i is determined up to a gradient term (corresponding to the gauge freedom (34–35)) by

$$\star_3 d(\mathcal{G}^3 \boldsymbol{b}) = \mathcal{G} d\mathcal{K} - \mathcal{K} d\mathcal{G}, \tag{36}$$

where \star_3 is the Hodge-star on flat \mathbb{R}^3 , and $\mathcal{K}(x^i)$ is another harmonic function on \mathbb{R}^3 . Choosing positive orientation to be given by $dv \wedge du \wedge dx^1 \wedge dx^2 \wedge dx^3$, (9–10) yields⁵

$$F = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}} du \wedge d\left(\frac{\mathcal{K}}{\mathcal{G}}\right) + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \star_3 d\mathcal{G}. \tag{37}$$

Defining $D_b := b^i \partial_i$ and $W_{ij} := -\delta_{ij} D_b \mathcal{G} - \mathcal{G} \partial_j b^i$, \mathcal{Q} is a solution of

$$\partial_i \partial_i \mathcal{Q} = -2\mathcal{G}^2 D_b \mathcal{W}_{ii} + 2\mathcal{G} \mathcal{W}_{(ij)} \mathcal{W}_{(ij)} + \frac{2}{3} \mathcal{G} \mathcal{W}_{[ij]} \mathcal{W}_{[ij]}. \tag{38}$$

Note that (38) only determines Q up to a harmonic function Q_0 ; hence, the local solution is determined by three harmonic functions \mathcal{G} , \mathcal{K} , Q_0 .

From Lemma 2 follows that locally $dx^i = \iota_W X^{(i)}$ (as in the timelike case (20)). Our assumption that the span of Killing fields must be timelike excludes any fixed points of W in the DOC for the null case, and therefore, N > 0 on the DOC. It follows that \mathcal{G} is globally defined by

$$\mathcal{G}^{-1} = -g(W, V) = \pm \sqrt{N} \neq 0. \tag{39}$$

We can flip the sign of \mathcal{G} by redefining $u \to -u$ and $\mathcal{Q} \to -\mathcal{Q}$, so without loss of generality we will take

$$\mathcal{G} > 0 \tag{40}$$

on the DOC. On the horizon W must be orthogonal to the generators of the horizon (since every Killing field is tangent to the horizon), which must be proportional to V, thus N=0 and $\mathcal G$ must diverge.

Note that from (37) and Lemma 2, it follows that

$$\iota_W F = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}} \mathrm{d}\left(\frac{\mathcal{K}}{\mathcal{G}}\right). \tag{41}$$

The left-hand side is invariantly defined, but since the DOC is not necessarily simply connected, this does not define \mathcal{K} globally. Still, in each local (sufficiently small) patch we find that \mathcal{K}/\mathcal{G} is bounded. In particular, near the horizon \mathcal{K} can diverge at most as \mathcal{G} does. Later we will show that (41) indeed globally defines \mathcal{K} on $\langle\langle\mathcal{M}\rangle\rangle$.

3. Asymptotics

In this section, we determine the asymptotic behaviour of the U(1) Killing field W, and the Cartesian coordinates x^i using Definition 1. As discussed in the previous section, generally we take the stationary Killing field, ∂_0 in asymptotic coordinates (11), to be a linear combination of the other two, i.e.

$$\partial_0 = \gamma^{-1} V + \frac{v_H}{\tilde{L}} W \tag{42}$$

with γ, v_H constants. For this, we first need to look at the asymptotic form of Killing fields in an asymptotically Kaluza–Klein spacetime.

⁵ The sign difference compared to [34] is due to the opposite orientation chosen.

3.1. Asymptotic Form of Killing Fields

We first narrow down the possible form of the axial Killing field near spatial infinity. Proposition 2.1 of [60] for asymptotically flat spacetime states that the Killing fields asymptotically approach those of Minkowski. The statement carries over to asymptotically Kaluza–Klein spacetimes.

Lemma 3. Let (\mathcal{M}, g) be stationary and asymptotically Kaluza–Klein as in Definition 1, and K a Killing field that commutes with ∂_0 . Then there exist constants $\Lambda_{ij} = -\Lambda_{ji}$ such that

$$K_{j} - u^{i} \Lambda_{ij} = \begin{cases} \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{1-\tau}) \text{ for } \tau \neq 1, \\ \mathcal{O}(\log \tilde{r}) \text{ for } \tau = 1. \end{cases}$$

$$(43)$$

If all Λ vanish, then there exist constants A_{μ} such that

$$K_{\mu} - A_{\mu} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}). \tag{44}$$

If all $\Lambda = A = 0$ then K = 0.

Proof. The proof is identical to the one in Appendix C of [61], but for completeness we outline it here in a bit more detail. It is well known that for a Killing field K

$$\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}K_{\lambda} = R^{\kappa}{}_{\mu\nu\lambda}K_{\kappa}. \tag{45}$$

Using this, we can write

$$\partial_{\mu}K_{\nu} = \nabla_{\mu}K_{\nu} + \Gamma^{\kappa}_{\mu\nu}K_{\kappa},\tag{46}$$

$$\partial_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}K_{\lambda} = R^{\kappa}{}_{\mu\nu\lambda}K_{\kappa} + \Gamma^{\kappa}{}_{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\kappa}K_{\lambda} + \Gamma^{\kappa}{}_{\mu\lambda}\nabla_{\nu}K_{\kappa}. \tag{47}$$

This means that for the \tilde{r} -derivatives we obtain

$$\partial_{\tilde{r}} K_{\nu} = \frac{u^{i}}{\tilde{r}} \left(\nabla_{i} K_{\nu} + \Gamma^{\kappa}_{i\nu} K_{\kappa} \right), \tag{48}$$

$$\partial_{\tilde{r}} \nabla_{\nu} K_{\lambda} = \frac{u^{i}}{\tilde{r}} \left(R^{\kappa}{}_{i\nu\lambda} K_{\kappa} + \Gamma^{\kappa}{}_{i\nu} \nabla_{\kappa} K_{\lambda} + \Gamma^{\kappa}{}_{i\lambda} \nabla_{\nu} K_{\kappa} \right), \tag{49}$$

where we used $\partial_{\tilde{r}} = \tilde{r}^{-1}u^i\partial_i$. In Appendix A, we derive from Definition 1 that

$$R^{\kappa}_{\mu\nu\lambda} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2}), \qquad \Gamma^{\mu}_{i\nu} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-1}),$$

$$\Gamma^{\mu}_{0\nu} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-1}), \qquad \Gamma^{\mu}_{\tilde{\eta}\tilde{\eta}\tilde{\nu}} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}). \tag{50}$$

Let us define $X = \sum_A f^A f^A$ for $f^A = (K_\mu, \tilde{r} \nabla_\mu K_\nu)$, for which

$$|\partial_{\tilde{r}}X| = \frac{1}{\tilde{r}} \left| 2 \sum_{AB} C_{AB} f^A f^B \right| \le \frac{2C'X}{\tilde{r}},\tag{51}$$

where the explicit form of the matrix $C_{AB}(u^i, \tilde{\psi})$ can be obtained from (49) and C'>0 is a constant. For a uniform bound on C_{AB} (second relation in (51)), we used that due to (50) $C_{AB}(\tilde{r}, \tilde{\theta}, \tilde{\phi}, \tilde{\psi}) \leq B(\tilde{\theta}, \tilde{\phi}, \tilde{\psi}) \tilde{r}^0 \leq C'$, where $\tilde{\theta}, \tilde{\phi}$ (together denoted by θ^A) are angular coordinates on S^2 and B is some function. Therefore, by integrating (51), there exists a β such that $K_{\mu} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{\beta})$, $\nabla_{\mu}K_{\nu} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{\beta-1})$. Let us assume that $\beta \geq 1 + \tau$. Using our estimates for

 $K, \nabla K$ in the right-hand side of (49) and then (48), we obtain an improved estimate with $\beta \to \beta - \tau$. We iterate this procedure until $1 \le \beta < 1 + \tau$. Then (47) yields

$$\partial_i \nabla_\mu K_\nu = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{\beta-\tau-2}), \qquad \partial_{\tilde{\psi}} \nabla_\mu K_\nu = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{\beta-\tau-1}).$$
 (52)

From Lemma⁶ of Appendix A in [62] it follows that $\nabla_{\mu}K_{\nu} - \Lambda_{\mu\nu} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{\beta-\tau-1})$ with some $\Lambda_{\mu\nu}$ constants, which we first assume that are not all zero. This substituted back into (47) improves the estimates to $\beta \to 1$ and $K_{\mu} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r})$. Finally, we obtain

$$|K_{\mu}(u^{0}, \tilde{r}, \theta^{A}, \tilde{\psi}) - \Lambda_{\nu\mu}u^{\nu}| \leq |K_{\mu}(u_{0}^{0}, \tilde{r}_{0}, \theta_{0}^{A}, \tilde{\psi}_{0}) - \Lambda_{\nu\mu}u_{0}^{\nu}| + \left| \int_{\Gamma} d(K_{\mu} - \Lambda_{\nu\mu}u^{\mu}) \right| = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{1-\tau})$$
(53)

with Γ connecting u_0^{μ} with u^{μ} for some u_0^{μ} . Now, consider for $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ at a given $(t, \tilde{r}, \tilde{\theta}, \tilde{\phi})$

$$\left| \int_0^{4\pi k} (\partial_{\tilde{\psi}} K_{\mu} - \Lambda_{\tilde{\psi}\mu}) d\tilde{\psi} \right| = 4\pi \left| k \Lambda_{\tilde{\psi}\mu} \right| \le C \tilde{r}^{1-\tau}.$$
 (54)

This should hold for $\forall k \in \mathbb{Z}$, which implies that $\Lambda_{\tilde{\psi}\mu} = 0$. $\Lambda_{0i} = 0$ by $0 = \mathcal{L}_{\partial_0} K^{\mu} = \partial_0 K^{\mu}$. Thus, we obtained (43).

If $\Lambda_{ij} = 0$, we have $\nabla_{\mu} K_{\nu} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau})$ and $K_{\mu} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{1-\tau})$. By a similar procedure, we can improve this estimate by $-\tau$ at each iteration until $\partial_r K_{\mu} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-k\tau})$ with $1 - k\tau < 0 \le 1 - (k-1)\tau$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Then again by Lemma of Appendix A in [62] and the arguments above, there is a constant A_{μ} such that $K_{\mu} - A_{\mu} = \mathcal{O}(r^{-\tau})$.

If $\Lambda_{ij} = 0$ and $A_{\mu} = 0$, by the iterative process $K_{\mu} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\kappa})$ for any $\kappa > 0$. Then integrating (51) as

$$-\frac{2C'X}{\tilde{r}} \le \partial_{\tilde{r}}X\tag{55}$$

we obtain $\tilde{r}_0^{2C'}X(\tilde{r}_0) \leq \tilde{r}^{2C'}X(\tilde{r}) \to 0$ as $\tilde{r} \to \infty$, thus $X(\tilde{r}_0) = 0$, which means that the Killing field and its first derivative is zero at a point, hence it is zero everywhere.

3.2. Chart at Spatial Infinity from Supersymmetry

In this section, we construct a chart at spatial infinity defined from Killing spinor bilinears as described in Sect. 2. We also show that W is tangent to the Kaluza–Klein direction.

The proof is quite different depending on whether $v_H = 0$ or $v_H \neq 0$ in (42), and for the former, we first need to derive the asymptotic form of the hyper-Kähler structure. In this case, the supersymmetric Killing field V coincides with the stationary one, which means V is timelike in the asymptotic

⁶ The Lemma considers a function on a boost-type domain in 4D. Since here nothing depends on u^0 , in our case it holds for $\mathbb{R} \times \Sigma_0$. The proof carries over with the only change being that (A.2) has an extra integral in the Kaluza–Klein direction that vanishes in the $\tilde{r} \to \infty$ limit due to $\partial_{\tilde{\eta}} \nabla_{\mu} K_{\nu} \to 0$.

region (thus we are in the timelike case since V is not globally null). Furthermore, its limit at infinity is also timelike (i.e. $\lim_{\tilde{r}\to\infty} g(V,V) < 0$), and hence, we are in the asymptotically timelike case, as opposed to the (timelike or null) case when $\lim_{\tilde{r}\to\infty} g(V,V) = 0$, which we call asymptotically null.

For the case $v_H = 0$, let us normalise the Killing spinor such that $\gamma = 1$, i.e. $V = \partial_0$ in the asymptotic coordinates (11). Definition 1 implies that on the asymptotically Kaluza–Klein end we have⁷

$$f = 1 + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}),\tag{56}$$

$$\omega = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}) \mathrm{d}u^a, \tag{57}$$

$$h = \underbrace{\delta_{ij} du^{i} du^{j} + \tilde{L}^{2} d\tilde{\psi}^{2}}_{=:h_{0}} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}) du^{a} du^{b}, \tag{58}$$

and the asymptotically Kaluza–Klein end $\Sigma_0 \subset \mathcal{B}$ is a circle fibration over $\mathbb{R}^3 \backslash B^3$. For the asymptotic form of the hyper-Kähler structure, we prove the following lemma.

Lemma 4. Assuming $v_H = 0$, on the asymptotically Kaluza–Klein end, the complex structures of (\mathcal{B}, h) can be written as⁸

$$X^{(i)} = \Omega_{-}^{(i)} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}), \tag{59}$$

where $\Omega_{-}^{(i)}$ are a standard basis of anti-self-dual 2-forms on $\mathbb{R}^3 \times S^1$ with respect to the orientation $\tilde{L}d\tilde{\psi} \wedge du^1 \wedge du^2 \wedge du^3$,

$$\Omega_{-}^{(i)} = \tilde{L} d\tilde{\psi} \wedge du^{i} - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{ijk} du^{j} \wedge du^{k}.$$
 (60)

Proof. The proof is analogous to the asymptotically flat case (Lemma 4 of [19]). From the quaternion algebra $X^{(i)} \cdot X^{(i)} = -4$ (no sum over i), hence to leading order $X^{(i)}_{ab} = \mathcal{O}(1)$. The curvature of h is Ricci-flat (since it is hyper-Kähler), and for that one can show that $\Gamma^b_{ia} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-1})$ and $\Gamma^a_{\tilde{\psi}\tilde{\psi}} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau})$ (see Appendix A). Then $\nabla^{(h)}X^{(i)} = 0$ implies that

$$\partial_j X_{ab}^{(i)} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau - 1}), \qquad \partial_{\tilde{\psi}} X_{jk}^{(i)} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau - 1}), \qquad \partial_{\tilde{\psi}} X_{\tilde{\psi}j}^{(i)} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}), \quad (61)$$

which after integration yields $X_{ab}^{(i)} = \bar{X}_{ab}^{(i)} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau})$, where $\bar{X}_{ab}^{(i)}$ are constants.

Let us now define $\bar{X}_{\pm}^{(i)} := \frac{1}{2}(1 \pm \star_{h_0})\bar{X}^{(i)}$ as the SD/ASD part of $\bar{X}^{(i)}$ with respect to h_0 (defined in (58)). Then using

$$\star_h X^{(i)} = \star_{h_0} X^{(i)} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}) = \star_{h_0} \bar{X}^{(i)} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}) = \bar{X}_+^{(i)} - \bar{X}_-^{(i)} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau})$$
(62)

we deduce by anti-self-duality of $X^{(i)}$ that the constant $\bar{X}_{+}^{(i)} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}) = 0$. Equation (15) implies that $\bar{X}^{(i)}$ obeys the quaternion algebra with respect to

⁷The solution is invariant under changing the sign of f, H, L, ψ, t simultaneously, so without loss of generality we take f > 0 at infinity.

 $^{^8}$ Error terms of tensors throughout this section refer to their components in the asymptotic coordinates of Definition 1.

 h_0 . Since (60) forms a basis of ASD 2-forms with respect to h_0 also satisfying the quaternion algebra, we can always perform a global SO(3) rotation of $X_{-}^{(i)}$ such that $\bar{X}_{-}^{(i)} = \Omega_{-}^{(i)}$.

Next we use Lemma 3 and triholomorphicity to deduce the asymptotic form of W. The following result holds for both timelike and null cases.

Lemma 5. For any values of v_H , on the asymptotically Kaluza–Klein end we can choose coordinates such that the metric is of the form (11) with the stationary Killing field ∂_0 , and the U(1) Killing field is given by

$$W = \partial_{\tilde{g_0}}. \tag{63}$$

Proof. By Lemma 3, the leading-order behaviour of W is determined by constants Λ_{ij} and A_{μ} (using the notation of the Lemma). Since W has closed orbits, $A_0 = 0$ and W^0 must be subleading in \tilde{r} .

First we will consider the general case $v_H \neq 0$, and assume that Λ_{ij} are not all zero for W. Then W generates a rotation on \mathbb{R}^3 (possibly simultaneously with a rotation in the Kaluza–Klein direction); therefore, without loss of generality we can write

$$W = \Lambda \partial_{\phi} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{1-\tau}), \tag{64}$$

where $(\tilde{r}, \theta, \phi)$ are the usual spherical coordinates on \mathbb{R}^3 and Λ is a constant. Then, the norm of V

$$0 \ge \gamma^{-2} g(V, V) = g_{00} + \frac{v_H^2}{\tilde{L}^2} g(W, W) - 2 \frac{v_H}{\tilde{L}} W_0$$
$$= \frac{v_H^2}{\tilde{L}^2} \Lambda^2 \tilde{r}^2 \sin^2 \theta + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{2-\tau}) + \mathcal{O}(1). \tag{65}$$

It follows that $\Lambda = 0$, therefore $\Lambda_{ij} = 0$, and by Lemma 3

$$W = A_i \partial_i + A_{\psi} \partial_{\psi} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}). \tag{66}$$

Since W has closed orbits, $A_i = 0$, therefore $W = \partial_{\tilde{\psi}} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau})$, where the normalisation has been chosen such that W has 4π -periodic orbits.

In the spacetime, the integral curves of W wind around the Kaluza–Klein direction; hence, we can adapt coordinates $(u^0, u^i, \tilde{\psi}) \to (u^{0\prime}, u^{i\prime}, \tilde{\psi}') = (u^0 + \lambda^0, u^i + \lambda^i, \tilde{\psi} + \lambda^{\psi})$ to the action of W such that $W = \partial_{\tilde{\psi}'}$ exactly and $V = \partial_0'$. To see this, note that W commutes with the stationary Killing field, thus $\partial_0 \lambda^\mu = 0$, and the stationary Killing field is unchanged by the coordinate transformation, i.e. $\partial_0 = \partial_0'$. Since $\lambda = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau})$, the metric only receives $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau})$ corrections, so g' has the same form as (11). Thus, (after omitting primes) we get the claimed result.

For the special case $v_H = 0$, we work on the hyper-Kähler base and use the triholomorphic property of W. $\mathcal{L}_W V = 0$ and $\mathcal{L}_W f = 0$, and thus, the projection of $\pi_*(W^0, W^a) = W^a$ defines a Killing vector on the base space. To leading order W is equal to $\pi_* W$ (thus in the following we do not distinguish

 $^{^9}$ W acts freely for large enough \tilde{r} , as fixed points are excluded by the form of the metric, and we will see in Sect. 5 that exceptional orbits are excluded by triholomorphicity.

between the two). Again, assuming that Λ_{ij} are not all zero for W, without loss of generality we can write it as (64). Using the asymptotic form of the complex structures from Lemma 4, one can check that ∂_{ϕ} preserves only one of them, which would contradict triholomorphicity. It follows again that $\Lambda = 0$, and by the same arguments as for the general case, W must have the claimed form.

Next, we construct the asymptotic charts for the cases when V is asymptotically timelike or null separately. For the asymptotically timelike case we have the following result.

Lemma 6. Assume that V is asymptotically timelike. Then the base of the asymptotically Kaluza–Klein end is covered by a single chart in which (together with the vertical coordinate ψ) the spacetime metric is of Gibbons–Hawking form ((13) with (18)). The Gibbons–Hawking coordinates are related to the asymptotic coordinates by

$$t = \gamma^{-1} u^0,$$
 $\psi = \tilde{\psi} + \frac{v_H}{\tilde{L}} u^0 \sim \psi + 4\pi,$ (67)

$$x^{i} = \tilde{L}\gamma u^{i} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{1-\tau}), \tag{68}$$

where (with appropriate normalisation of V)

$$\gamma = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - v_H^2}},\tag{69}$$

and the Killing fields are given by $V = \partial_t$ and $W = \partial_{\psi}$, and the Cartesian coordinates x^i provide a surjection to $\mathbb{R}^3 \backslash B_R^3$ for some R > 0.

Proof. The supersymmetric Killing field is given by $V = \gamma \partial_0 - \gamma v_H \tilde{L}^{-1} \partial_{\tilde{\psi}}$. Since it is asymptotically timelike, we can normalise it such that

$$f^{2} = -g(V, V) = \gamma^{2}(1 - v_{H}^{2}) + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}) = 1 + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}), \tag{70}$$

which in terms of the constants γ, v_H yields (69) with $|v_H| \leq 1$. Let us define

$$t = \gamma^{-1}u^0, \qquad \psi = \tilde{\psi} + \frac{v_H}{\tilde{L}}u^0, \tag{71}$$

so that $W = \partial_{\psi}$ and $V = \partial_{t}$. In these coordinates, the base metric becomes

$$h = \tilde{L}^2 \gamma^2 d\psi^2 + \delta_{ij} du^i du^j + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}). \tag{72}$$

This has the same form as the base metric in Lemma 4 with $\tilde{L}^2 \to \tilde{L}^2 \gamma^2$. One can use similar arguments to deduce that the hyper-Kähler two-forms are

$$X^{(i)} = \tilde{L}\gamma d\psi \wedge du^{i} + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{ijk}du^{j} \wedge du^{k} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}).$$
 (73)

Hence, for the Cartesian one-forms we get

$$\iota_W X^{(i)} = \tilde{L} \gamma du^i + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}). \tag{74}$$

Since $\iota_W(\iota_W X^{(i)}) = 0 = \mathcal{L}_W(\iota_W X^{(i)})$, and W is tangent to the circle fibres, the closed 1-form $\iota_W X^{(i)}$ descends to the base of the fibration $\mathbb{R}^3 \backslash B^3$, which is simply connected. Hence, by (20) the Cartesian coordinates x^i can be globally integrated on (and uplifted to) the asymptotic end to get (68). Since (u^0, u^i)

form a single chart of the base of the asymptotically Kaluza–Klein end, so do the Gibbons–Hawking coordinates (t, x^i) . On this chart $N = \tilde{L}^2 \gamma^2 + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}) > 0$, hence by (28) the metric is invertible.

Finally, we consider the case when V is asymptotically (or globally) null, i.e. $\lim_{\tilde{r}\to\infty} g(V,V) = 0$, and thus, without loss of generality we can take

$$V = \partial_0 - \tilde{L}^{-1} \partial_{\tilde{i}\tilde{b}}. \tag{75}$$

We then have the following result.

Lemma 7. Assume V is asymptotically (possibly globally) null as in (75). Then, the base of the asymptotically Kaluza-Klein end is covered by a single coordinate chart of (t, x^i) with

$$t = u^0, x^i = \tilde{L}u^i + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{1-\tau/2}).$$
 (76)

Let

$$\psi = \tilde{\psi} + L^{-1}u^0 \sim \psi + 4\pi \tag{77}$$

parametrise the fibres. In such a chart $V = \partial_t$ and $W = \partial_{\psi}$.

Proof. From (4), it follows that the most general form of $X^{(i)}$ is

$$X^{(i)} = T_j^{(i)} (\mathrm{d}u^0 + \tilde{L}\mathrm{d}\tilde{\psi}) \wedge \mathrm{d}u^j + \frac{1}{2} R_{jk}^{(i)} \mathrm{d}u^j \wedge \mathrm{d}u^k$$
 (78)

for some functions $T_j^{(i)}$ and $R_{jk}^{(i)}$. From the 00 component of (6) using (11), we obtain

$$(\delta_{kl} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}))T_k^{(i)}T_l^{(j)} = \delta_{ij} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}), \tag{79}$$

hence $T_j^{(i)} = \mathcal{O}(1)$. From (11), (75) and (3) follows $f = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau/2})$, and using (5), one can check that $R_{jk}^{(i)} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau/2})$. The spacetime covariant derivative of $X^{(i)}$ has the form $\nabla X^{(i)} \sim F \star X^{(i)}$ (10), thus

$$\partial_{\mu} T_{i}^{(i)} = \partial_{\mu} X_{0i}^{(i)} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau/2-1}),$$
 (80)

where we used that the relevant Christoffel symbols decay as $\mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-1})$ (Appendix A) and that $F = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau/2-1})$ (see Remark after Definition 1). After integration of (80), we get

$$T_j^{(i)} = \overline{T}_j^{(i)} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau/2})$$
 (81)

for some constants $\overline{T}_j^{(i)}$. Furthermore, these constants satisfy (79), hence $\overline{T} \in O(3)$. By a global orthogonal transformation of u^i , we can arrange that

$$X^{(i)} = (\mathrm{d}u^0 + \tilde{L}\mathrm{d}\tilde{\psi}) \wedge \mathrm{d}u^i + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau/2}), \tag{82}$$

and thus

$$\iota_W X^{(i)} = \tilde{L} du^i + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau/2}). \tag{83}$$

By the same argument as in Lemma 6 x^i can be integrated to get

$$x^{i} = \tilde{L}u^{i} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{1-\tau/2}), \tag{84}$$

and $(t=u^0,x^i)$ is a global chart on the base of the asymptotically Kaluza–Klein end. \Box

The notation of the coordinates (t, ψ, x^i) matches that of the timelike (but here asymptotically null) case ((13) and (18)), but the result is valid for the globally null case as well. Then, the coordinates of (30) are given by $v = u^0$ and $u = \psi$ instead.

We have thus in each case constructed a chart on the asymptotically Kaluza–Klein end that is adapted to the Killing spinor bilinears. In particular, a suitable time coordinate t and the Cartesian coordinates x^i , related to the bilinears $X^{(i)}$ by (20), provide a single chart of the base of the fibration at infinity.

4. Near-Horizon Analysis of Null Supersymmetric Solutions

4.1. Classification of Null Supersymmetric Near-Horizon Geometries

The near-horizon analysis and classification of near-horizon geometries in [16] assume that the supersymmetric Killing field becomes timelike in some neighbourhood of the horizon, which is no longer true in the globally null case. In this section, we show that the same results apply in the null case, and we deduce some technical results for later use.

The results of [58] show that a supersymmetric near-horizon geometry, even in the null class, must be maximally supersymmetric. These solutions were classified in [34], and thus, the near-horizon geometry must be $AdS_3 \times S^2$ or a plane wave solution. While there is only one way $AdS_3 \times S^2$ is realised as a near-horizon geometry of a null solution, as it has a unique null supersymmetric Killing field, if one were to use these results, one would need to determine how the plane wave geometry is compatible with being a near-horizon geometry. Instead, we prefer to give our self-contained treatment using the method of [16], which will reveal that the only other possible near-horizon geometry is the trivial plane wave with flat geometry.

Following [16], we introduce Gaussian null coordinates near a connected component of the horizon. In these coordinates, the horizon is at $\lambda = 0$, $V = \partial_v$, and the metric takes the form

$$g = 2d\lambda dv + 2\lambda h dv + \gamma, \tag{85}$$

where γ and h are a family of metrics and 1-forms on the 3-manifolds $H_{v,\lambda}$, which are the $v={\rm const}$, $\lambda={\rm const}$ hypersurfaces. Note that since $V=\partial_v$ is Killing, the metric components do not depend on v. Let $H=H_{v,0}$ denote a spatial cross-section of the horizon. Equations (4–5) imply that we can choose a coframe $\{Z^{(i)}\}_{i=1}^3$ of γ such that

$$X^{(i)} = (\mathrm{d}\lambda + \lambda h) \wedge Z^{(i)}. \tag{86}$$

Equation (9) implies that V is hypersurface orthogonal, which is equivalent to

$$\hat{\mathbf{d}}h = \lambda h \wedge \partial_{\lambda}h,\tag{87}$$

where \hat{d} denotes the exterior derivative projected onto $H_{v,\lambda}$ (i.e. it does not include λ derivatives). Closedness of $X^{(i)}$ is equivalent to (87) together with

$$\hat{\mathbf{d}}Z^{(i)} = \partial_{\lambda} \left(\lambda h \wedge Z^{(i)} \right). \tag{88}$$

To determine the Maxwell field, following [34], it is convenient to work in the spacetime coframe

$$e^{+} = d\lambda + \lambda h, \qquad e^{-} = dv, \qquad e^{i} = Z^{(i)}.$$
 (89)

Equation (7) implies that $F = F_{+i}e^+ \wedge e^i + \frac{1}{2}F_{ij}e^i \wedge e^j$. F_{ij} is determined by (9), while ++j component of (10) determines F_{+i} . Choosing $e^- \wedge e^+ \wedge e^1 \wedge e^2 \wedge e^3$ to be positively oriented, after some algebra we get

$$F = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \left[\frac{1}{3} \epsilon_{ijk} \gamma^{-1} \left(Z^{(j)}, \partial_{\lambda} Z^{(k)} \right) X^{(i)} - \star_{\gamma} (h + \lambda \partial_{\lambda} h) \right], \tag{90}$$

where \star_{γ} is the Hodge star of γ with orientation $e^1 \wedge e^2 \wedge e^3$, and we used that $X^{(i)} = e^+ \wedge e^i$.

Equation (90) agrees with (3.35) of [16] in the null limit, but its derivation does not rely on the assumption that V becomes timelike outside the horizon. The analysis of [16] determines the leading-order behaviour of the metric quantities $h, Z^{(i)}, \gamma$, which applies without modification. For completeness, we sketch it here as well. (87) and Bianchi identity for (90) implies

$$\hat{\mathbf{d}}h = 0$$
 and $\hat{\mathbf{d}} \star_{\gamma} h = 0$ on H , (91)

respectively, from which follows

$$0 = -(\hat{\mathbf{d}} \star_{\gamma} \hat{\mathbf{d}} \star_{\gamma} + \star_{\gamma} \hat{\mathbf{d}} \star_{\gamma} \hat{\mathbf{d}}) h = \hat{\nabla}^{2} h - \widehat{\operatorname{Ric}} \cdot h \quad \text{on } H, \tag{92}$$

where $\hat{\nabla}$ and $\widehat{\text{Ric}}$ are the Levi–Civita connection of γ and its Ricci tensor, and is with respect to γ^{-1} . The j+k component of (10) at $\lambda=0$ yields an expression for $\hat{\nabla}Z^{(i)}$ on H, which after taking another derivative and antisymmetrising yields

$$\widehat{\text{Ric}} = h^2 \gamma - h \otimes h - \hat{\nabla} h \quad \text{on } H.$$
 (93)

Then considering the integral $I = \int_H |\nabla h|_{\gamma}^2 \, dvol$, after integration by parts and using (91–93), one can show that

$$\hat{\nabla}h = 0 \quad \text{on } H. \tag{94}$$

Equation (88) implies that $Z^{(i)}$ are hypersurface orthogonal, and without loss of generality there exist coordinates z^i and a function K(z) such that

$$Z^{(i)} = K dz^i + \mathcal{O}(\lambda)$$
 and $h = \hat{d} \log K + \mathcal{O}(\lambda)$. (95)

Equation (94) imposes a condition on K, which has two solutions, one corresponding to flat near-horizon geometry with T^3 horizon topology, which is not allowed [6], the other one is

$$K = K_0 \exp(-\psi), \tag{96}$$

where $\psi = \frac{1}{2} \log(z^i z^i)$ and K_0 is some constant. This corresponds to $S^2 \times S^1$ horizon geometry with

$$h = -\mathrm{d}\psi + \mathcal{O}(\lambda), \quad Z^{(i)} = K_0(\hat{x}^i \mathrm{d}\psi + \mathrm{d}\hat{x}^i) + \mathcal{O}(\lambda),$$

$$\gamma = K_0^2(\mathrm{d}\psi^2 + \mathrm{d}\hat{x}^i \mathrm{d}\hat{x}^i) + \mathcal{O}(\lambda), \tag{97}$$

where we introduced $\hat{x}^i = z^i \exp(-\psi)$ that satisfy $\hat{x}^i \hat{x}^i = 1$ and $d\hat{x}^i d\hat{x}^i$ is the round metric on S^2 .

4.2. Imposing Axial Symmetry

Building on the above results of [16], it has been shown in [19] that a U(1) Killing field that preserves V and $X^{(i)}$ must be of the form $W = W^{\psi}\partial_{\psi} + W^{v}\partial_{v} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda)$ for a constant nonzero W^{ψ} and a function W^{v} on H. In fact, since W is spacelike on the horizon, 10 one can choose v = const surfaces such that W is tangent to H, i.e. $W^{v} = 0$, in which case one can show that

$$W = W^{\psi} \partial_{\psi} \tag{98}$$

exactly in some neighbourhood of the horizon (see Remark after Lemma 6 of [19]). In the following, we will work in such a coordinate system.

Another result of [19] is that $\iota_W X^{(i)} \propto \mathrm{d}\lambda$, ¹¹ hence if one can integrate (20) to obtain functions x^i , these are constant on each connected component of the horizon (i.e. each connected component of the horizon is mapped to a point in \mathbb{R}^3). In the null case, the horizon topology is $S^2 \times S^1$ and W is tangent to the circle fibres; thus, in a neighbourhood of the horizon one can integrate (20) to obtain (up to an additive constant which for simplicity we set to zero) [19]

$$x^{i} = -W^{\psi} K_{0} \lambda \hat{x}^{i} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^{2}), \tag{99}$$

and the radial distance on \mathbb{R}^3 from a horizon component is

$$r := \sqrt{x^i x^i} = |W^{\psi} K_0| \lambda + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^2). \tag{100}$$

For later reference, we now look at the next order in λ and prove the following lemma.

Lemma 8. Near a horizon component $g(W,W) = \alpha_0 + r\alpha_1 + \mathcal{O}(r^2)$ for some constants α_0 , α_1 .

Proof. From the leading-order metric and (98) follows that $g(W, W) = (W^{\psi}K_0)^2 + \mathcal{O}(r)$ thus $\alpha_0 = (W^{\psi}K_0)^2$ is trivially constant. In the second-to-leading order, we introduce

$$Z^{(i)} = K_0 \left[\hat{x}^i d\psi + d\hat{x}^i + \lambda \left(Z_{1,\psi}^{(i)} d\psi + \hat{Z}_1^{(i)} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^2) \right], \tag{101}$$

$$h = -\mathrm{d}\psi + \lambda(h_{1,\psi}\mathrm{d}\psi + \hat{h}_1) + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^2),\tag{102}$$

¹⁰If W were null at the horizon, it would be parallel to $V = \partial_v$, and since [V, W] = 0, W^v would not depend on v. Thus, the coordinate v would be periodic by the periodicity of the orbits of W, which cannot happen.

¹¹In fact, the explicit form of W is not necessary for this result. From (29) $\mathrm{d}x^i$ are null on the horizon, and since $\iota_V \iota_W X^{(i)} = 0$ by (4), $\iota_W X^{(i)} \propto V^\flat = \mathrm{d}\lambda$ on H.

where $Z_{1,\psi}^{(i)}$ and $h_{1,\psi}$ are functions, and $\hat{Z}_{1}^{(i)}$ and \hat{h}_{1} are one-forms on S^{2} . (Note that h and $Z^{(i)}$ cannot depend on ψ , since ∂_{ψ} is Killing that also preserves $X^{(i)}$.) (87) implies that

$$\hat{h}_1 = \mathrm{d}h_{1,\psi},\tag{103}$$

and from (88) it follows that

$$Z_{1,\psi}^{(i)} = 2h_{1,\psi}\hat{x}^i + 4\zeta^i, \qquad \hat{Z}^{(i)} = 2h_{1,\psi}d\hat{x}^i + 2d\zeta^i$$
 (104)

for some functions ζ^i on S^2 . The norm of W is given by:

$$g(W,W) = (K_0 W^{\psi})^2 + 4|K_0 W^{\psi}| (h_{1,\psi} + 2\zeta^i \hat{x}^i) r + \mathcal{O}(r^2).$$
 (105)

We now show that $h_{1,\psi}$ and $\zeta^i \hat{x}^i$ are constants. Bianchi identity for (90) in second-to-leading order yields that

$$d \star_2 d \left(h_{1,\psi} + \zeta^i \hat{x}^i \right) = 0 \tag{106}$$

$$\epsilon_{ijk}\hat{x}^i d\langle d\hat{x}^j, d\zeta^k \rangle = \epsilon_{ijk}\hat{x}^i \zeta^k dx^j,$$
 (107)

where \star_2 and \langle,\rangle are the Hodge star operator and the inverse metric on the unit S^2 , where the orientation is related to the horizon orientation by $\epsilon_{\gamma} = K_0^3 d\psi \wedge \epsilon_{S^2}$. From (106) and the compactness of S^2 follows that $h_{1,\psi} + \zeta^i \hat{x}^i$ is constant. (107) can be written as

$$\star_2 d \star_2 d \left(\zeta^i d\hat{x}^i \right) = -d \left(\zeta^i \hat{x}^i \right). \tag{108}$$

Acting with $\star_2 d\star_2$ on (108) yields that $\zeta^i \hat{x}^i$ is harmonic on S^2 , hence it is constant. Thus, both $h_{1,\psi}$ and $\zeta^i \hat{x}^i$ are constants, and the norm of W has the claimed form.

The above proof solely relies on the near-horizon geometry and does not use the form of the solution in the DOC. If one uses (30), (37), and Lemma 2, there is an alternative way of proving that $h_{1,\psi}$ and $\zeta^i\hat{x}^i$ are constants. Integrating (20) to second-to-leading order yields

$$r = |W^{\psi} K_0| \left[\lambda + \left(h_{1,\psi} + 2\zeta^i \hat{x}^i \right) \lambda^2 \right] + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^3). \tag{109}$$

Using this, the inner product of Killing fields becomes

$$g(V,W) = \lambda \iota_W h = -\frac{W^{\psi} r}{|K_0 W^{\psi}|} + \frac{2r^2}{W^{\psi} K_0^2} \left(h_{1,\psi} + \zeta^i \hat{x}^i \right) + \mathcal{O}(r^3).$$
 (110)

On the other hand, from (30) $g(V, W) = -\mathcal{G}^{-1}$, so \mathcal{G} diverges as $\sim 1/r$ and harmonicity on \mathbb{R}^3 implies that

$$h_{1,\psi} + \zeta^i \hat{x}^i = C \tag{111}$$

for some constant C.

The two expressions for the Maxwell field (37) and (90) evaluated on the horizon using (31), (86), and (99) yield, respectively,

$$F|_{\lambda=0} = -\frac{\operatorname{sgn}(W^{\psi}K_0)(\gamma_{-1}\kappa_0 - \kappa_{-1}\gamma_0)}{2\sqrt{3}\gamma_{-1}^2} d\lambda \wedge d\psi$$

$$+\frac{\sqrt{3}}{4}\gamma_{-1}\operatorname{sgn}(W^{\psi}K_0)\epsilon_{ijk}\hat{x}^i d\hat{x}^j \wedge d\hat{x}^k, \tag{112}$$

$$F|_{\lambda=0} = \frac{K_0}{\sqrt{3}} \epsilon_{ijk} \hat{x}^i \langle d\hat{x}^j, d\zeta^k \rangle d\lambda \wedge d\psi + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{4} K_0 \epsilon_{ijk} \hat{x}^i d\hat{x}^j \wedge d\hat{x}^k + \frac{K_0}{\sqrt{3}} d\lambda \wedge \epsilon_{ijk} \left(2\hat{x}^j \zeta^k d\hat{x}^i + \langle d\hat{x}^j, d\zeta^k \rangle d\hat{x}^i \right),$$
(113)

where $\mathcal{G}=: \gamma_{-1}/r + \gamma_0 + \mathcal{O}(r)$, $\mathcal{K}=: \kappa_{-1}/r + \kappa_0 + \mathcal{O}(r)$ with constants $\gamma_{-1}, \gamma_0, \kappa_{-1}, \kappa_0$, where we used the boundedness of \mathcal{K}/\mathcal{G} and the harmonicity of \mathcal{K} . Thus, by comparison one obtains

$$K_0 \epsilon_{ijk} \hat{x}^i \langle d\hat{x}^j, d\zeta^k \rangle = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{sgn}(W^{\psi} K_0) \gamma_{-1}^{-2} (\gamma_{-1} \kappa_0 - \kappa_{-1} \gamma_0), \tag{114}$$

$$2\zeta^i d\hat{x}^i = \hat{x}^i d\zeta^i, \tag{115}$$

where for (115) we have applied \star_2 on the one-form in the second line of (113). Taking \star_2 d of (115) and substituting into (114) yields

$$\gamma_{-1}\kappa_0 - \kappa_{-1}\gamma_0 = 0, \tag{116}$$

and therefore the first term of (112) vanishes, which, to leading order, corresponds to the first term of (90). Thus, the Maxwell field must be of the form

$$F = -\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \star_{\gamma} (h + \lambda \partial_{\lambda} h) + \mathcal{O}(\lambda) d\lambda + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^{2}) dv + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^{2}) dz^{i}$$

$$= \frac{\sqrt{3} K_{0}}{4} \epsilon_{ijk} \hat{x}^{i} d\hat{x}^{j} \wedge d\hat{x}^{k} - \frac{\sqrt{3} K_{0} \lambda}{2} \left[(2\zeta^{i} \hat{x}^{i} - \langle d\zeta^{i}, d\hat{x}^{i} \rangle) \epsilon_{klm} \hat{x}^{k} d\hat{x}^{l} \wedge d\hat{x}^{m} + 2d\psi \wedge \star_{2} (\zeta^{i} d\hat{x}^{i}) \right] + \mathcal{O}(\lambda) d\lambda + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^{2}) dv + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^{2}) dz^{i},$$
(117)

where we used (111). The $d\lambda \wedge d\psi \wedge d\hat{x}$ terms of the Bianchi identity for (117) imply

$$\zeta^{i} d\hat{x}^{i} = 0 \implies \zeta^{i} = \zeta \hat{x}^{i}, \tag{118}$$

for some function $\zeta(\hat{x})$, and by (115) $\zeta = \zeta^i \hat{x}^i$ is a constant, and by (111) so is $h_{1,\psi}$.

Corollary 1. There exists a gauge choice of (34-35) such that around a horizon component $Q = q_{-1}/r + q_0 + \mathcal{O}(r)$ for some constants q_{-1}, q_0 .

Proof. The invariant $g(W,W) = -\mathcal{Q}/\mathcal{G} + \mathcal{G}^2|\boldsymbol{b}|^2$. By (36) and using that $\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{O}(r^{-1})$ and $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{O}(r^{-1})$, one can see that (with an appropriate gauge choice of (34–35)) we have $\mathcal{G}^2|\boldsymbol{b}|^2 = \mathcal{O}(r^2)$. Thus, from harmonicity of \mathcal{G} and Lemma 8 follows the claim.

5. Orbit Space and the General Global Solution

The next step is to determine the structure and topology of the orbit space. We will show that even if the DOC is not simply connected, it is still possible to define invariants (scalar functions) from certain closed 1-forms that are left invariant by V, W and thus descend to the three-dimensional orbit space

 $\hat{\Sigma} := \langle \langle \mathcal{M} \rangle \rangle / [\mathbb{R}_V \times U(1)_W]$. Using these functions, one can 'almost globally' define the harmonic functions and prove that the solution is globally defined by a set of harmonic functions of multi-centred type, i.e. with isolated singularities where they diverge as 1/r on \mathbb{R}^3 .

5.1. Orbit Space Analysis and Invariants

Let us now look at the structure of the orbit space $\hat{\Sigma}$, which has been analysed in detail in [7]. It is a topological manifold [63,64] with boundary $\partial \hat{\Sigma} = S_{\infty}^2 \cup_i S_i^2 \cup_j \hat{H}_j$, where S_{∞}^2 is a 2-sphere at infinity, S_i^2 are non-isolated fixed points corresponding to 'bolts' [65], and \hat{H}_j are quotients of horizon components. Generally, the orbit space can be written as $\hat{\Sigma} = \hat{F} \cup \hat{E} \cup \hat{L}$, where \hat{F} , \hat{E} , \hat{L} denotes fixed points (U(1) isotropy), exceptional orbits (discrete isotropy), and regular orbits (trivial isotropy), respectively. \hat{L} is open in $\hat{\Sigma}$, and has the structure of a smooth manifold. \hat{E} consists of curves in $\hat{\Sigma}$ that are either closed, end on an isolated fixed point, or on a horizon component \hat{H}_i . \hat{F} consists of isolated fixed points or the previously mentioned 2-spheres S_i^2 .

A crucial observation is that the orbit space of the asymptotic region $\hat{\Sigma}_0 := \Sigma_0/U(1)_W \simeq \mathbb{R}^3 \backslash B^3$ is simply connected, so we can use topological censorship for Kaluza–Klein asymptotics (Theorem 5.5 of [12]) to conclude that $\hat{\Sigma} = \Sigma/U(1)_W$ is simply connected. This, however, is not sufficient to define potentials for closed 1-forms, as the orbit space, in general, fails to be a *smooth* manifold at fixed points and exceptional orbits. To rule the existence of the latter out, we have the following lemma.

Lemma 9. There are no exceptional orbits in $\langle\langle \mathcal{M} \rangle\rangle$.

Proof. Let us assume for contradiction that there exists an exceptional orbit $E_e \subset \langle \langle \mathcal{M} \rangle \rangle$ with isotropy group \mathbb{Z}_p , and let $e \in E_e$ be a point on that orbit, i.e. $e^{i2\pi/p} \cdot e = e$, where $e^{i\alpha} \in U(1)$ with $\alpha \sim \alpha + 2\pi$. First, we will construct a local chart around E_e as follows.

By assumption $S_e := \operatorname{span}\{W_e, V_e\} \subset T_e \mathcal{M}$ is timelike and non-degenerate, hence S_e^{\perp} is spacelike. Since $\mathcal{L}_W V = \mathcal{L}_W W = 0$ and W is Killing, $e^{i2\pi/p}_*$ is an isometry that preserves S_e and S_e^{\perp} , so $\mathcal{R} := e^{i2\pi/p}_*|_{S_e^{\perp}}$ is a three-dimensional orientation-preserving rotation. Furthermore, $\mathcal{R}^p = \operatorname{Id}_{S_e^{\perp}}$, thus \mathcal{R} must be a rotation by $2\pi n/p$ for some $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Let $Z_e \in S_e^{\perp}$ be the unit vector preserved by \mathcal{R} , and $X_e, Y_e \in S_e^{\perp}$ such that $\{Z_e, X_e, Y_e\}$ is an orthonormal frame in S_e^{\perp} and

$$\mathcal{R}\begin{pmatrix} X_e \\ Y_e \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos(2\pi n/p) & \sin(2\pi n/p) \\ -\sin(2\pi n/p) & \cos(2\pi n/p) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} X_e \\ Y_e \end{pmatrix}. \tag{119}$$

Now let us extend Z_e, X_e, Y_e along E_e by

$$\mathcal{L}_W Z = 0, \qquad \mathcal{L}_W X = -\frac{n}{2} Y, \qquad \mathcal{L}_W Y = \frac{n}{2} X,$$
 (120)

¹² This can be seen by the fact that W preserves $V^{\flat} \wedge W^{\flat} \wedge \iota_W X^{(1)} \wedge \iota_W X^{(2)} \wedge \iota_W X^{(3)} \neq 0$ for N > 0.

(The factor of 2 only appears because W is normalised such that it is 4π -periodic.) Simply Lie-dragging X,Y along W would rotate them according to (119), which is cancelled by the right-hand side of (120) (recall that the exceptional orbit is $2\pi/p$ -periodic), so extending X and Y as in (120) is necessary in order for them to be single-valued along E_e . Finally, let us extend X,Y,Z along the integral curves of V to some 2-surface E by

$$\mathcal{L}_V X = \mathcal{L}_V Y = \mathcal{L}_V Z = 0. \tag{121}$$

This is possible since [V, W] = 0. Thus, we have constructed an orthonormal frame along E in the normal bundle NE. Let λ parametrise the integral curve of $2p^{-1}W$ along E, so that $\lambda \sim \lambda + 2\pi$ on E, and τ be the affine parameter distance from E_e along an integral curve of V. By the Tubular Neighbourhood Theorem (see e.g. [66]), we can introduce coordinates $\{x, y, z\}$ by exponentiating linear combinations of $\{X, Y, Z\}$ such that E is at x = y = z = 0, which together with λ, τ form a local chart in some neighbourhood U of E_e . Since W, V are Killing, they map geodesics to geodesics, hence $V = \partial_{\tau}$, and components of W can be deduced from its action on the orthonormal frame in NE, that is (cf. (2.20) of [7])

$$W = \frac{p}{2}\partial_{\lambda} + \frac{n}{2}(x\partial_{y} - y\partial_{x}). \tag{122}$$

Now we look at $X^{(i)}$ on E. From (4), it follows that $X^{(i)}$ have no τ leg. The two-forms are preserved by W; thus,

$$0 = \mathcal{L}_W X_{ax}^{(i)}|_E = \frac{p}{2} \partial_\lambda X_{ax}^{(i)} + \frac{n}{2} X_{ay}^{(i)}, \tag{123}$$

$$0 = \mathcal{L}_W X_{ay}^{(i)}|_E = \frac{p}{2} \partial_{\lambda} X_{ay}^{(i)} - \frac{n}{2} X_{ax}^{(i)}, \tag{124}$$

for $a = \lambda, z$. Taking a λ derivative of these equations, and substituting the originals back yields that

$$\partial_{\lambda}^{2} X_{ax}^{(i)} = -\frac{n^{2}}{p^{2}} X_{ax}^{(i)}, \tag{125}$$

and similarly for $X_{ay}^{(i)}$. Equation (125) admits solutions which are $2\pi p/n$ -periodic in λ . The exceptional orbits, however, are 2π -periodic in λ , which means $n/p \in \mathbb{Z}$. In that case, the neighbouring orbits (for x,y>0) would have the same isotropy as the exceptional one, which cannot happen. Hence, the only solution to (125) is $X_{ax}^{(i)} = X_{ay}^{(i)} = 0$ for $a = \lambda, z$. Thus, at each point of the exceptional orbit $X^{(i)} \in \text{span}\{d\lambda \wedge dz, dx \wedge dy\}$, which is two-dimensional, contradicting linear independence of the three two-forms following from (6).

Remark. The key assumptions for Lemma 9 is that the axial Killing field preserves three linearly independent 2-forms possibly having legs in four directions (recall that they have no dv legs). This follows from supersymmetry in both timelike and null case, but it is a more general result.

From the assumption that the span of Killing fields is timelike (assumption (ix)), it follows that $F \subset \operatorname{int} \mathcal{B}$, so F is a set of fixed points of a triholomorphic Killing field, which must be isolated (see [38] and the proof of Lemma

8 in [19]). This rules out any 'bolts' [65] in the orbit space. Thus, we have the following result (cf. Lemma 8 of [19]).

Corollary 2. The orbit space $\hat{\Sigma} = \hat{L} \cup \hat{F}$, where \hat{L} corresponds to regular orbits, and \hat{F} is a finite set of points corresponding to isolated fixed points of the U(1) action. Its boundary is $\partial \hat{\Sigma} = \hat{H} \cup S_{\infty}^2$.

Corollary 3. \hat{L} is simply connected.

Proof. Corollary 2 is an immediate consequence of Lemma 9. Corollary 3 follows from the fact that a simply connected 3-manifold stays simply connected after the removal of finite many points. \Box

Lemma 10. The equations

$$\iota_W X^{(i)} = dx^i, \qquad \iota_W F = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} d\Psi \tag{126}$$

define smooth functions x^i, Ψ globally on $\langle \langle \mathcal{M} \rangle \rangle \cup \mathcal{H}$ (up to an additive constant).

Proof. From their definition, we have $\iota_W dx^i = \iota_W \iota_W X^{(i)} = 0$, $\mathcal{L}_W dx^i = d(\iota_W dx^i) = 0$, $\iota_V dx^i = \iota_V \iota_W X^{(i)} = 0$ by (4), $\mathcal{L}_V dx^i = d(\iota_V dx^i) = 0$ and similarly for $d\Psi$ using (7), so they descend as smooth 1-forms on \hat{L} . Since \hat{L} is a simply connected smooth manifold by Corollary 3, they define smooth functions x^i and Ψ on \hat{L} . In fact, since $W|_{\mathcal{H}} \neq 0$ and the orbits of connected horizon components $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_i = \mathcal{H}_i/(\mathbb{R} \times U(1)) \simeq S^2$ are simply connected [7], the functions can be defined on the horizon as well. Then, we can uplift these functions to $(\langle\langle\mathcal{M}\rangle\rangle\cup\mathcal{H}\backslash\mathcal{F})/\mathbb{R}$ by $\mathcal{L}_Wx^i=\mathcal{L}_W\Psi=0$. We then extend the functions to the isolated fixed points continuously. This is possible, since the functions can be integrated on some small 4-ball around a fixed point with a constant chosen such that the function agrees with the one on $(\langle\langle\mathcal{M}\rangle\rangle\cup\mathcal{H}\backslash\mathcal{F})/\mathbb{R}$. Finally, we uplift x^i and Ψ to the spacetime by $\mathcal{L}_Vx^i=\mathcal{L}_V\Psi=0$.

5.2. General Global Solution

We are now ready to deduce the global form of the general solution that satisfies our assumptions, heavily relying on results of [16, 19, 29].

Theorem 1. For any solution (\mathcal{M}, g, F) of D = 5 minimal supergravity satisfying assumptions (i)-(x), the DOC is globally determined by a set of harmonic functions $(H, K, L, M \text{ when } f \not\equiv 0, \mathcal{G}, \mathcal{Q}_0, \mathcal{K} \text{ when } f \equiv 0)$ on $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^N \{a_i\}$ of the form

$$H(x) = h + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{h_i}{|x - a_i|},$$
 (127)

where h, h_i are constants and \mathbf{a}_i are the positions of centres corresponding to connected components of the horizon or fixed points of the axial symmetry (the latter only possible when $f \not\equiv 0$).

In the timelike case $(f \not\equiv 0)$ the metric is of Gibbons-Hawking form

$$g = -f^{2}(dt + \omega_{\psi}(d\psi + \chi) + \hat{\omega})^{2} + \frac{1}{Hf}(d\psi + \chi)^{2} + \frac{H}{f}dx^{i}dx^{i}, \quad (128)$$

determined by (21–24), and the Maxwell field is determined by (26). In particular, (128) and (26) smoothly extends in coordinates $(t, \psi x^i)$ to regions where f = 0.

In the null case ($f \equiv 0$), the solution is determined by (30–37), where for the inhomogeneous part $Q_I := Q - Q_0$, which satisfies (38), we impose the boundary conditions that Q_I is bounded on \mathbb{R}^3 and vanishes as $|\mathbf{x}| \to \infty$.

Proof. The functions x^i are globally defined on $\langle\langle \mathcal{M} \rangle\rangle \cup \mathcal{H}$ by Lemma 10. By Lemma 1, V is either globally null, or V is timelike on some dense subset of $\langle\langle \mathcal{M} \rangle\rangle$. The near-horizon analysis of Sect. 4 for the null case and that of [16,19] for the timelike case implies that each connected component of the horizon is mapped to a single point of \mathbb{R}^3 by x (Lemma 6 of [19]). Furthermore, there are no exceptional orbits of W (Lemma 9). Thus, we can apply Lemma 9 of [19] to deduce that $x: \hat{L} \to \mathbb{R}^3 \backslash x(\hat{\mathcal{H}} \cup \hat{F})$ is a global diffeomorphism. Hence, the three-dimensional orbit space with each horizon component added as a single point, $\hat{\Sigma} \cup_i \{\mathcal{H}_i\}$ is in bijection with \mathbb{R}^3 . We next analyse the null and timelike cases in turn.

Null case $(f \equiv 0)$: We have seen that the solution must have the form (30--37). a_i must correspond to horizon components, as fixed points are ruled out (see discussion after Lemma 2). \mathcal{G} is globally defined and nonzero on $\langle\langle\mathcal{M}\rangle\rangle$ by (39). This means that \mathcal{G} is a nonzero harmonic function on $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \cup_i \{a_i\}$, which diverges at each a_i as $\sim 1/|x-a_i|$. This follows from the near-horizon analysis (see proof of Lemma 8), or by Bôcher's Theorem (see e.g. [67]). This determines the singular structure of \mathcal{G} , and its regular part is a harmonic function on \mathbb{R}^3 which approaches $\mathcal{G} \to \tilde{L}^{-1}$ by (11), (39) and (75), therefore it is constant.

From (41) and (126) follows that (up to an additive constant)

$$\mathcal{K} = 3\mathcal{G}\Psi,\tag{129}$$

which defines K on $\langle\langle\mathcal{M}\rangle\rangle$. It also follows that K has (at most) simple poles at horizon components. Since $d\Psi \sim F \sim \mathcal{O}(|\boldsymbol{x}|^{-\tau/2-1})$ (see Remark after Definition 1), $\Psi \to \text{const}$ at infinity, which we are free to choose to be zero. (This corresponds to the 'gauge' freedom $K \to K + c\mathcal{G}$ for some constant c.) Thus, the regular part of K on \mathbb{R}^3 is constant (in fact zero in this 'gauge').

Finally, let us look at \mathcal{Q} . The norm of the axial Killing field $g(W,W) = -\frac{\mathcal{Q}}{\mathcal{G}} + \mathcal{G}^2 |\mathbf{b}|^2$. From the asymptotic behaviour of \mathcal{G} and \mathcal{K} , by (36), we deduce that $|\mathbf{b}| = \mathcal{O}(|\mathbf{x}|^{-1})$, and thus $\mathcal{Q} = -\tilde{L} + \mathcal{O}(|\mathbf{x}|^{-1})$. By Corollary 1, near a horizon component there exists a gauge such that

$$Q = \frac{q_{-1}^i}{|\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{a}_i|} + q_0^i + \mathcal{O}(|\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{a}_i|), \tag{130}$$

with constants q_{-1}^i and q_0^i . It follows that we can impose the following boundary conditions on the inhomogeneous part Q_I : we require that it vanishes at

infinity, and it is bounded at each horizon component. This fixes the inhomogeneous part, ¹³ and thus the homogeneous part $Q_0 = q_{-1}^i/|x - a_i| + \mathcal{O}(1)$ at the i^{th} centre and approaches $-\tilde{L}$ at infinity. By the same arguments as for \mathcal{G} , Q_0 has the claimed form.

Timelike case $(f \not\equiv 0)$: We have already established that the base has Gibbons–Hawking form on $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}} \backslash \mathcal{F}$. Now let us focus on the associated harmonic functions. Since N > 0 on $\langle \langle \mathcal{M} \rangle \rangle \backslash \mathcal{F}$, by Lemma 1 of [29] the metric (128) is smooth, invertible with smooth inverse, the Maxwell field given by (26) is smooth, and the harmonic functions are smooth, and they are invariantly defined by

$$H = \frac{f}{N}, \quad L = \frac{fg(W, W) + 2g(V, W)\Psi - f\Psi^2}{N}, \tag{131}$$

$$K = \frac{f\Psi - g(V, W)}{N}, \quad M = \frac{g(W, W)g(V, W) - 3f\Psi g(W, W) - 3\Psi^2 g(V, W) + f\Psi^3}{2N}, \tag{132}$$

even on the set f = 0, where N must be nonzero by our assumption that the Killing fields span a timelike vector space. Here we used that Ψ is globally defined due to Lemma 10 up to an additive constant, changing of which corresponds to shifting the harmonic functions as in (27).

Now that we have established that the harmonic functions are smooth at generic points of the spacetime, let us look at their behaviour at fixed points of W and the horizon. For fixed points, note that the expression for H in (132) implies that the zeros of H and f must coincide on $\langle\langle\mathcal{M}\rangle\rangle$. Also, $f(p) \neq 0$ at a fixed point p and (by continuity) on some neighbourhood, thus H is nonzero in some neighbourhood of p. As N(p) = 0, by (132) H must diverge at p and by Bôcher's theorem H must have a simple pole at $\mathbf{x}(p) = \mathbf{a}_i$ for some i. From (132) it follows that all harmonic functions have the same type of singularity at \mathbf{a}_i . For the horizon components, using the near-horizon analysis of [16], triholomorphicity implies that the harmonic functions have (at most) simple poles at the horizon components (Lemma 9 of [19]).

This fixes the form of the harmonic functions up to a globally defined harmonic function on \mathbb{R}^3 , which, as in the null case, is determined by the asymptotic conditions. By calculating the invariants $f, \Psi, g(V, W), g(W, W)$ at infinity and using (132), we find that the regular part of the harmonic functions must be a constant. Depending on whether $f \to 1$ or $f \to 0$ at infinity (asymptotically timelike and null cases respectively), the values of these constants are different.

In the asymptotically timelike case by Lemma 6 $f^2 = 1 + \mathcal{O}(|\boldsymbol{x}|^{-\tau})$, $g(W,W) = \tilde{L}^2 + \mathcal{O}(|\boldsymbol{x}|^{-\tau})$, and $g(V,W) = -\tilde{L}\gamma v_H + \mathcal{O}(|\boldsymbol{x}|^{-\tau})$, thus $N = \gamma^2 \tilde{L}^2 + \mathcal{O}(|\boldsymbol{x}|^{-\tau})$. Without loss of generality, we can require that $f \to 1$. Then using (132) we see that $H = (\tilde{L}\gamma)^{-2} + \mathcal{O}(|\boldsymbol{x}|^{-1})$, where the fall-off of the subleading terms are determined by harmonicity on \mathbb{R}^3 . The Maxwell field (17) falls off as $F = \mathcal{O}(|\boldsymbol{x}|^{-1-\tau/2})$, hence by (126) $\Psi = \Psi_0 + \mathcal{O}(|\boldsymbol{x}|^{-\tau/2})$,

¹³This can be seen by the fact that the difference of any two such particular solutions is a bounded harmonic function on $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \bigcup_i \{a_i\}$ that goes to zero at infinity, and thus identically zero.

where Ψ_0 is a constant of integration, which we are free to set $\Psi_0 = -\tilde{L}\gamma v_H$ for convenience.¹⁴ This implies through (132) that near spatial infinity

$$H = (\tilde{L}\gamma)^{-2} + \mathcal{O}(|\boldsymbol{x}|^{-1}), \quad L = 1 + \mathcal{O}(|\boldsymbol{x}|^{-1}), \quad K = \mathcal{O}(|\boldsymbol{x}|^{-1}),$$

$$M = \tilde{L}\gamma v_H + \mathcal{O}(|\boldsymbol{x}|^{-1}), \tag{133}$$

where the subleading fall-off has again been determined by harmonicity.

In the asymptotically null case, we obtain by a similar calculation that

$$H = \mathcal{O}(|\mathbf{x}|^{-1}), \quad L = \mathcal{O}(|\mathbf{x}|^{-1}), \quad K = \tilde{L}^{-1} + \mathcal{O}(|\mathbf{x}|^{-1}),$$

$$M = -\tilde{L}/2 + \mathcal{O}(|\mathbf{x}|^{-1}), \tag{134}$$

where for simplicity we set $\Psi_0 = 0$.

Remark. Note that for all cases harmonicity on \mathbb{R}^3 sets $\tau = 1$ in Definition 1 for the fall-off at infinity.

6. Regularity and Asymptotic Conditions

Theorem 1 necessarily includes the most general global solution under the stated assumptions; however, it does not guarantee that all such solutions are smooth, asymptotically Kaluza–Klein black hole solutions. In order to establish the sufficient criteria for this, we need to check the asymptotics and regularity of these solutions. This analysis is different in the timelike $(f \not\equiv 0)$ and globally null $(f \equiv 0)$ case, so we consider them in turn.

6.1. Timelike Case

By Theorem 1, the solution is globally determined by harmonic functions

$$H(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{h_i}{|x - a_i|} + h, \qquad K(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{k_i}{|x - a_i|} + k,$$

$$L(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{l_i}{|x - a_i|} + l, \qquad M(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{m_i}{|x - a_i|} + m, \qquad (135)$$

and the asymptotic values of the harmonic functions depend on whether $f \to 1$ or $f \to 0$ as $|x| \to \infty$, as in (133–134), that is respectively

$$h = (\tilde{L}\gamma)^{-2}, \qquad k = 0, \qquad l = 1, \qquad m = \tilde{L}\gamma v_H,$$
 (136)

$$h = 0, k = \tilde{L}^{-1}, l = 0, m = -\tilde{L}/2.$$
 (137)

First we analyse the asymptotic geometry, and then, we determine the regularity conditions near the horizon and around fixed points.

 $^{^{14}\}mathrm{We}$ choose the constant such that the regular part of K vanishes at infinity. This is the same gauge as the one used in [39] and [30]

6.1.1. Geometry at Spatial Infinity. At spatial infinity $(|x| \to \infty)$, we can expand the harmonic functions as

$$H(\mathbf{x}) = h + \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} h_i}{|\mathbf{x}|} + \mathcal{O}(|\mathbf{x}|^{-2}),$$
 (138)

and similarly for K, L, M.

As we will shortly see, in the timelike case the geometry of the 'sphere' at infinity is governed by the second-to-leading order terms in H. After integration, (19) yields

$$\chi = \tilde{\chi}_0 d\phi + \tilde{h}_0 \cos\theta d\phi + \mathcal{O}(r^{-2}) dx^i, \tag{139}$$

where we defined $\tilde{h}_0 := \sum_{i=1}^N h_i$, on \mathbb{R}^3 we use standard spherical coordinates (r, θ, ϕ) , and $\tilde{\chi}_0$ is a constant of integration. We can set the latter to an arbitrary value by a coordinate change $(\psi, \phi) \to (\psi + c\phi, \phi)$ which shifts $\tilde{\chi}_0 \to \tilde{\chi}_0 - c$. We will shortly see that the bundle structure requires that \tilde{h}_0 is an integer, so for convenience we work in a gauge in which $\tilde{\chi}_0 \equiv \tilde{h}_0 \mod 2$.

We now look at the geometry of a constant time hypersurface in the limit $r \to \infty$, in which the spatial metric has the form

$$g|_{t=\text{const}} = \begin{cases} \frac{dr^2}{\gamma^2 \tilde{L}^2} + \tilde{h}_0^2 \tilde{L}^2 \left(\frac{d\psi + \tilde{\chi}_0 d\phi}{\tilde{h}_0} + \cos\theta d\phi \right)^2 \\ + \frac{r^2}{\gamma^2 \tilde{L}^2} (d\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta d\phi^2) + \cdots, & \text{if } \tilde{h}_0 \neq 0, \\ \frac{dr^2}{\gamma^2 \tilde{L}^2} + \tilde{L}^2 (d\psi + \tilde{\chi}_0 d\phi)^2 + \frac{r^2}{\gamma^2 \tilde{L}^2} (d\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta d\phi^2) + \cdots, & \text{if } \tilde{h}_0 = 0, \end{cases}$$

$$(140)$$

with $\gamma=1$ in the asymptotically null case, and ... represent lower order terms in each metric component. It is explicit that at constant r the metric takes the local form that of a squashed S^3 if $\tilde{h}_0 \neq 0$, or $S^2 \times S^1$ if $\tilde{h}_0 = 0$. In the latter case, the angles are identified as $(\psi, \phi) \sim (\psi + 4\pi, \phi) \sim (\psi, \phi + 2\pi)$.

In the locally spherical case, let us define $\phi^{\pm} := (\psi + (\tilde{\chi}_0 \pm \tilde{h}_0)\phi)/\tilde{h}_0$ so that the leading order angular metric (on the 'sphere' at infinity) takes the form

$$g|_{t,r} = \tilde{h}_0^2 \tilde{L}^2 \left(d\phi^{\pm} \pm (1 \pm \cos \theta) d\phi \right)^2 + r^2 \gamma^{-2} \tilde{L}^{-2} (d\theta^2 + \sin^2 \theta d\phi^2) + \cdots$$
(141)

In these coordinates, the U(1) connection $\pm (1 \pm \cos \theta) d\phi$ is regular on the northern and southern hemisphere, respectively, so we use ϕ^{\pm} as vertical coordinates on the fibres on the N/S hemisphere. Independent 4π -periodicity of ψ for each ϕ , θ (which we assume by Definition 1) implies that ϕ^{\pm} are $4\pi/\tilde{h}_0$ -periodic. Therefore, we may parametrise U(1) (now identified with the complex unit circle) as $\exp(i\tilde{h}_0\phi^{\pm}/2)$. Also, $\phi^+ = \phi^- + 2\phi$, so the transition function between the N/S hemisphere is $\exp(i\tilde{h}_0\phi)$, which is single-valued on the equator only if \tilde{h}_0 is an integer as previously stated. Also, independent periodicity of $\phi \sim \phi + 2\pi$ for fixed ϕ^{\pm} implies

$$(\psi, \phi) \sim (\psi + 2\pi(\tilde{\chi}_0 \pm \tilde{h}_0), \phi + 2\pi).$$
 (142)

Since we have set $\tilde{\chi}_0 \pm \tilde{h}_0$ to be even, and ψ is independently 4π -periodic, this implies that

$$(\psi, \phi) \sim (\psi, \phi + 2\pi). \tag{143}$$

One can check that the geometry of the 'sphere' at infinity is $L(|\tilde{h}_0|, 1)$ or S^3 if $|\tilde{h}_0| = 1$.

In summary, the geometry at infinity is $S^2 \times S^1$ for $\tilde{h}_0 = 0$, S^3 for $\tilde{h}_0 = \pm 1$, and L(p,1) for $|\tilde{h}_0| = p \in \mathbb{Z}$. In all cases, the angles are identified as $(\psi, \phi) \sim (\psi + 4\pi, \phi) \sim (\psi, \phi + 2\pi)$.

6.1.2. Regularity. Regularity has to be established at (i) generic points, (ii) the horizon, (iii) at fixed points of W. Recall that assumption (ix) implies that N > 0 on $\langle \langle \mathcal{M} \rangle \rangle \backslash \mathcal{F}$. For generic points, smoothness of the solution is established by Lemma 1 of [29], which states that if

$$N^{-1} = K^2 + HL > 0 (144)$$

and H, K, L, M are smooth, then (g, F) is smooth, and g is invertible with smooth inverse. Therefore, (144) must be imposed on the harmonic functions everywhere on their domain. Much like in the asymptotically flat case, it is currently an open problem to reformulate (144) as an explicit condition on the parameters h_i, k_i, l_i, a_i .

The smoothness of a solution determined by harmonic functions of the form (135) has been analysed for the asymptotically flat case, and the sufficient conditions have been determined at the horizon and fixed points in [29] for axisymmetric, and in [19] for general (non-symmetric) harmonic functions. Reference [19] (a) uses a local expansion of harmonic functions in terms of spherical harmonics, (b) assumes that the periodicity of the angular coordinates are determined by asymptotic conditions, and they are $\psi \sim \psi + 4\pi$ and $\phi \sim \phi + 2\pi$ independently, where ϕ is the azimuthal angle in a spherical coordinate system of the \mathbb{R}^3 base of (128). For (a), around each centre (which we take to be the origin) we expand the harmonic functions as

$$H = \frac{h_{-1}}{r} + h_0 + \sum_{\substack{k=1\\|m| \le k}}^{\infty} h_{km} r^k Y_k^m(\theta, \phi), \tag{145}$$

and similarly for the other harmonic functions. This has the same form irrespective of asymptotics, and thus, the same sufficient conditions hold for asymptotically Kaluza–Klein spacetimes. For (b) we have seen in Sect. 6.1.1, that the angle coordinates ψ , ϕ admit the same identifications as in the asymptotically flat case. This means that the regularity analysis is identical. We here only present the results, details can be found in [19].

If the centre corresponds to a horizon component, existence of a coordinate transformation to Gaussian null coordinates (and also positivity of the horizon area) requires that

$$-h_{-1}^{2}m_{-1}^{2} - 3h_{-1}k_{-1}l_{-1}m_{-1} + h_{-1}l_{-1}^{3} - 2k_{-1}^{3}m_{-1} + \frac{3}{4}k_{-1}^{2}l_{-1}^{2} > 0.$$
(146)

Integrating (19) and (22) yields

$$\chi = (\chi_0 + h_{-1}\cos\theta)\mathrm{d}\phi + \tilde{\chi},\tag{147}$$

$$\omega = (\omega_0 + \omega_{-1}\cos\theta)\mathrm{d}\phi + \tilde{\omega},\tag{148}$$

where χ_0 , ω_0 are constants of integration,

$$\omega_{-1} := h_0 m_{-1} - m_0 h_{-1} + \frac{3}{2} (k_0 l_{-1} - l_0 k_{-1}), \tag{149}$$

and $\tilde{\chi},\,\tilde{\omega}$ contain higher-order terms in r. Smoothness at the axes $\theta=0,\pi$ is equivalent to

$$\omega_{-1} = \omega_0 = 0. \tag{150}$$

The horizon topology is determined by

$$h_{-1} \in \mathbb{Z}.\tag{151}$$

For $h_{-1} = 0$ the topology is $S^2 \times S^1$, for $h_{-1} = \pm 1$ it is S^3 , otherwise $L(|h_{-1}|, 1)$. Correct identification of the angles requires that

$$\chi_0 \equiv h_{-1} \mod 2. \tag{152}$$

If the centre is a fixed point of W, then there is a curvature singularity at the centre unless

$$h_{-1} = \pm 1. \tag{153}$$

The Killing fields having timelike span implies that $f \neq 0$ at the centre, which is equivalent to

$$l_{-1} + h_{-1}k_{-1}^2 = 0, (154)$$

and the spacetime has the correct signature around a fixed point if and only if

$$h_{-1}(l_0 - h_0 k_{-1}^2 + 2h_{-1}k_{-1}k_0) > 0. (155)$$

Smoothness of ω is equivalent to

$$m_{-1} = \frac{1}{2}k_{-1}^3,\tag{156}$$

$$\omega_{-1} = \omega_0 = 0, \tag{157}$$

and the correct identification of the angle coordinates, similarly to the horizon, requires that

$$\chi_0 \equiv 1 \mod 2. \tag{158}$$

6.2. Null Case

By Theorem 1, the solution is determined by the harmonic functions on $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \cup_i \{a_i\}$

$$\mathcal{G}(x) = \frac{1}{\tilde{L}} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{g_i}{|x - a_i|}, \quad \mathcal{K}(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{k_i}{|x - a_i|}, \quad \mathcal{Q}_0(x) = -\tilde{L} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{f_i}{|x - a_i|}.$$
(159)

Our assumption that there exists a timelike linear combination of the Killing fields in the DOC (assumption (ix)) excludes any fixed point of W; hence, all centres must correspond to connected components of the horizon. We start our analysis at the horizon.

Let us focus on a single horizon component, around which we will use standard spherical coordinates (r, θ, ϕ) on \mathbb{R}^3 , so the horizon is at the origin. Then, we can expand locally the harmonic functions and, using Corollary 1, \mathcal{Q} as

$$\mathcal{G} = \frac{\gamma_{-1}}{r} + \gamma_0 + \tilde{\mathcal{G}}, \quad \mathcal{Q} = \frac{q_{-1}}{r} + q_0 + \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}, \quad \mathcal{K} = \frac{\kappa_{-1}}{r} + \kappa_0 + \tilde{\mathcal{K}}, \quad (160)$$

with some constants $\gamma_{-1}, \gamma_0, q_{-1}, q_0, \kappa_{-1}, \kappa_0$. The quantities with tilde are of $\mathcal{O}(r)$, and in the case of $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}, \tilde{\mathcal{K}}$ harmonic.¹⁵ Recall that \mathcal{G} is positive in the DOC and must diverge at the horizon, which means that

$$\gamma_{-1} > 0.$$
 (161)

In Sect. 4 we have seen that the axial Killing field W is spacelike on the horizon. Recall that $0 < g(W, W) = -\mathcal{Q}/\mathcal{G} + \mathcal{G}^2 |\mathbf{b}|^2$ and by (36), $\mathcal{G}^2 |\mathbf{b}|^2 = \mathcal{O}(r^2)$ (with a suitable gauge choice of (34–35)), which implies that

$$q_{-1} < 0. (162)$$

Equation (36) can be locally integrated to obtain

$$\boldsymbol{c} := \mathcal{G}^{3} \boldsymbol{b} = (c_{-1} \cos \theta + c_{0}) d\phi + \tilde{\boldsymbol{c}},$$

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{c}} := \sum_{\substack{l \ge 1 \\ |m| \le l}} \frac{c_{lm} r^{l}}{l} \star_{2} dY_{l}^{m},$$
(163)

where c_0 is a constant of integration, Y_l^m are the spherical harmonics, \star_2 is the Hodge star on the two-sphere, and the coefficients are defined by

$$c_{-1} := \gamma_0 \kappa_{-1} - \kappa_0 \gamma_{-1}, \qquad \sum_{\substack{l \ge 1 \\ |m| \le l}} c_{lm} r^l Y_l^m := \gamma_{-1} \tilde{\mathcal{K}} - \kappa_{-1} \tilde{\mathcal{G}}. \tag{164}$$

Note that \tilde{c} is analytic in r and smooth on the two-sphere. The metric (30) has a coordinate singularity at the horizon. The coordinate change that removes this singularity is of the form

$$dv' = dv - \left(\frac{A_0}{r^2} + \frac{A_1}{r}\right) dr, \qquad du' = du - \frac{B}{r} dr, \tag{165}$$

 $^{^{15} \}tilde{\mathcal{Q}}$ contains the inhomogeneous part of $\mathcal{Q},$ hence not harmonic.

with A_0, A_1, B constants. In these coordinates, the metric becomes

$$g = -\frac{2\operatorname{d} u \operatorname{d} v}{\mathcal{G}} - \frac{2B\operatorname{d} v \operatorname{d} r}{r\mathcal{G}} + 2\left(-\frac{A_0 + B\mathcal{Q}r}{\mathcal{G}r^2} - \frac{A_1}{\mathcal{G}r} + \frac{B|\mathbf{c}|^2}{\mathcal{G}^4r}\right) \operatorname{d} u \operatorname{d} r$$

$$+ \frac{2\operatorname{c} \operatorname{d} u}{\mathcal{G}} + \left(\mathcal{G}^2 - \frac{2A_0B + 2A_1Br + B^2\mathcal{Q}r}{\mathcal{G}r^3} + \frac{B^2|\mathbf{c}|^2}{\mathcal{G}^4r^2}\right) \operatorname{d} r^2 + 2\frac{B\operatorname{c} \operatorname{d} r}{\mathcal{G}r}$$

$$+ \left(-\frac{\mathcal{Q}}{\mathcal{G}} + \frac{|\mathbf{c}|^2}{\mathcal{G}^4}\right) \operatorname{d} u^2 + \mathcal{G}^2 r^2 (\operatorname{d} \theta^2 + \sin^2 \theta \operatorname{d} \phi^2), \tag{166}$$

where the norm is with respect to the flat metric on \mathbb{R}^3 . Setting the $1/r^2$ and 1/r terms in g_{rr} and the 1/r terms in g_{ur} to zero is equivalent to

$$A_{0} = \pm \sqrt{-q_{-1}\gamma_{-1}^{3}}, \qquad A_{1} = \pm \frac{\sqrt{\gamma_{-1}}(q_{0}\gamma_{-1} + 3q_{-1}\gamma_{0})}{2\sqrt{-q_{-1}}},$$

$$B = \pm \sqrt{-\frac{\gamma_{-1}^{3}}{q_{-1}}}.$$
(167)

The near-horizon geometry $((r, v) \to (\varepsilon r, v/\varepsilon)$, in the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$) is given by:

$$g_{NH} = -\frac{2r dv du}{\gamma_{-1}} \pm 2\sqrt{-\frac{\gamma_{-1}}{q_{-1}}} dv dr - \frac{q_{-1}}{\gamma_{-1}} du^2 + \gamma_{-1}^2 (d\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta d\phi^2),$$
(168)

which corresponds to a black ring, in agreement with the near-horizon analysis in Sect. 4. Regularity of (166) at the axes $\theta=0,\pi$ requires that \boldsymbol{c} is a smooth 1-form on S^2 . Setting $c_0=\pm 1$ makes it smooth at $\theta=0,\pi$, respectively, however, the required coordinate change between the two charts (covering the northern and southern hemisphere) by (34–35) is $v''=v'-2\phi$, which is well-defined only if v is periodic, but that cannot happen. Hence, smoothness at the horizon is equivalent to

$$c_0 = 0, \tag{169}$$

$$c_{-1} = \gamma_0 \kappa_{-1} - \kappa_0 \gamma_{-1} = 0. \tag{170}$$

Note that the same constraint as (170) for K and G has been derived in the near-horizon analysis in (116).

The regularity condition (170) has the following consequence.

Lemma 11. $\mathcal{K} = 0$ on \mathbb{R}^3 .

Proof. By Theorem 1 $\mathcal{G}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \sum_{i}^{N} \gamma_i/|\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{a}_i| + \tilde{L}^{-1}$ and $\mathcal{K}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \sum_{i}^{N} \kappa_i/|\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{a}_i|$, and all centres correspond to horizon components. In terms of the parameters of the harmonic functions, (170) at each centre (horizon component) is equivalent to

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} \frac{\gamma_j \kappa_i - \gamma_i \kappa_j}{a_{ij}} + \tilde{L}^{-1} \kappa_i = 0 \quad \text{for each } i,$$
 (171)

where $a_{ij} := |\boldsymbol{a}_i - \boldsymbol{a}_j| + \delta_{ij}$. ¹⁶ We look at this as a system of N linear equations for N unknown κ_i of the form $A_{ij}\kappa_j = 0$, where the matrix A is given by:

$$A_{ij} = \left(\tilde{L}^{-1} + \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{\gamma_k}{a_{ik}}\right) \delta_{ij} - \frac{\gamma_i}{a_{ij}}.$$
 (172)

Since \tilde{L}^{-1} and γ_i are positive, A is a strictly row diagonally dominant matrix, that is

$$|A_{ii}| = \tilde{L}^{-1} + \sum_{k \neq i}^{N} \frac{\gamma_k}{a_{ik}} > \sum_{k \neq i}^{N} \frac{\gamma_k}{a_{ik}} = \sum_{k \neq i}^{N} |A_{ik}| \quad \text{for each } i.$$
 (173)

As a consequence, A is invertible (see e.g. (5.6.17) of [68]), and thus $\kappa_i = 0$ for all i, so $\mathcal{K} \equiv 0$.

Corollary 4. b = 0, and thus $Q = Q_0$ is harmonic.

Proof. As a consequence of Lemma 11 and (169), using (36), \boldsymbol{b} is pure gauge, so it can be set to zero by a transformation of the form (34–35). Thus, the right-hand side of (38) vanishes, hence the inhomogeneous part Q_I is harmonic, and by our boundary conditions in Theorem 1, $Q_I = 0$.

As a consequence, the Maxwell field is simply given by

$$F = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \star_3 \mathrm{d}\mathcal{G}. \tag{174}$$

In (160) $\gamma_0 + \tilde{\mathcal{G}}$ is smooth at r = 0, thus so is their contribution in (174). Also,

$$\star_3 d \frac{\gamma_{-1}}{r} = -\gamma_{-1} \sin \theta d\theta \wedge d\phi, \tag{175}$$

which is smooth on S^2 , so the Maxwell field is smooth at the horizon. We have thus seen that given (161-162), (170), the solution is smooth at the horizon.

In the DOC $\mathcal{G} > 0$ and \mathcal{Q} are smooth, hence all metric components are smooth. The metric is invertible, its inverse is given by

$$q^{-1} = \mathcal{G}\mathcal{Q}\partial_v \otimes \partial_v - 2\mathcal{G}\partial_u \odot \partial_v + \mathcal{G}^{-2}\partial_i \otimes \partial_i, \tag{176}$$

which is explicitly smooth. The Maxwell field is trivially smooth on the DOC by (174). This concludes the regularity analysis.

7. Classification Theorem for Supersymmetric Kaluza–Klein Black Holes

We are now ready to present our main result, the classification theorem for supersymmetric, axisymmetric, asymptotically Kaluza–Klein black holes (cf. Theorem 3 of [19]). Recall that by Lemma 1 the supersymmetric Killing field is either generically timelike or globally null. We present the two cases in turn.

¹⁶The second term is added so that the sum in (171) can be taken over all indices, the numerator will cancel for the case when i = j.

Theorem 2. An asymptotically Kaluza–Klein (in the sense of Definition 1), supersymmetric black hole or soliton solution (\mathcal{M}, g, F) of D = 5 minimal supergravity with an axial symmetry satisfying assumptions (i)-(x) of Sect. 2, with supersymmetric Killing field which is not globally null, must have a Gibbons–Hawking base (wherever $f \neq 0$), and is globally determined by four associated harmonic functions, which are of 'multi-centred' form, i.e.

$$H = h + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{h_i}{r_i}, \quad K = k + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{k_i}{r_i}, \quad L = l + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{l_i}{r_i}, \quad M = m + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{m_i}{r_i}, \quad (177)$$

where $r_i := |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{a}_i|$, $\mathbf{a}_i = (x_i, y_i, z_i) \in \mathbb{R}^3$, and the parameters are given by

$$h = (\tilde{L}\gamma)^{-2}, \qquad k = 0, \qquad l = 1, \qquad m = \tilde{L}\gamma v_H,$$
 (178)

or

$$h = 0, k = \tilde{L}^{-1}, l = 0, m = -\tilde{L}/2,$$
 (179)

in the asymptotically timelike $(f \to 1)$ and asymptotically null case $(f \to 0)$, respectively, with constants $\tilde{L} > 0$, $|v_H| < 1$ and $\gamma = (1 - v_H^2)^{-1/2}$. The centres either correspond to fixed points of the axial Killing field, or connected components of the horizon. The 1-forms can be written as:

$$\chi = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(\chi_0^i + \frac{h_i(z - z_i)}{r_i} \right) d\phi_i, \qquad \xi = -\sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{k_i(z - z_i)}{r_i} d\phi_i, \tag{180}$$

$$\hat{\omega} = \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^{N} \left(h_i m_j + \frac{3}{2} k_i l_j \right) \beta_{ij} , \qquad (181)$$

where χ_0^i are integers such that

$$\chi_0^i + h_i \in 2\mathbb{Z},\tag{182}$$

and

$$d\phi_i := \frac{(x - x_i)dy - (y - y_i)dx}{(x - x_i)^2 + (y - y_i)^2},$$
(183)

$$\beta_{ij} := \left(\frac{(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{a}_i) \cdot (\boldsymbol{a}_i - \boldsymbol{a}_j)}{|\boldsymbol{a}_i - \boldsymbol{a}_j| r_i} - \frac{(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{a}_j) \cdot (\boldsymbol{a}_i - \boldsymbol{a}_j)}{|\boldsymbol{a}_i - \boldsymbol{a}_j| r_j} - \frac{(\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{a}_i) \cdot (\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{a}_j)}{r_i r_j} + 1\right) \times \frac{((\boldsymbol{a}_i - \boldsymbol{a}_j) \times (\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{a}_j)) \cdot d\boldsymbol{x}}{|(\boldsymbol{a}_i - \boldsymbol{a}_j) \times (\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{a}_j)|^2} .$$

$$(184)$$

The parameters h_i, k_i, l_i, m_i must satisfy for each centre i = 1, ..., N,

$$hm_i - mh_i + \frac{3}{2}(kl_i - lk_i) + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq i}}^{N} \frac{h_j m_i - m_j h_i + \frac{3}{2}(k_j l_i - l_j k_i)}{|\mathbf{a}_i - \mathbf{a}_j|} = 0, \quad (185)$$

and for the asymptotically null case

$$\exists i \ such \ that \ h_i \neq 0.$$
 (186)

Moreover, if a_i corresponds to a fixed point of the axial Killing field,

$$h_i = \pm 1,$$
 $l_i + h_i k_i^2 = 0,$ $m_i = \frac{1}{2} k_i^3,$ (187)

satisfying

$$h_{i}l - hk_{i}^{2}h_{i} + 2kk_{i} + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{N} \frac{2k_{i}k_{j} - h_{i}(h_{j}k_{i}^{2} - l_{j})}{|\boldsymbol{a}_{i} - \boldsymbol{a}_{j}|} > 0,$$
 (188)

whereas if \mathbf{a}_i corresponds to a horizon component $h_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and

$$-h_i^2 m_i^2 - 3h_i k_i l_i m_i + h_i l_i^3 - 2k_i^3 m_i + \frac{3}{4} k_i^2 l_i^2 > 0.$$
 (189)

The horizon topology is $S^1 \times S^2$ if $h_i = 0$, S^3 if $h_i = \pm 1$ and a lens space $L(|h_i|, 1)$ otherwise. Finally, for all $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{\mathbf{a}_1, \dots, \mathbf{a}_N\}$, the harmonic functions must satisfy

$$K^2 + HL > 0. (190)$$

The topology of the 'sphere' at infinity (t = const, $|\mathbf{x}| \to \infty$) is S^3 for $\tilde{h}_0 = \pm 1$, $S^2 \times S^1$ for $\tilde{h}_0 = 0$, or $L(|\tilde{h}_0|, 1)$ otherwise, where $\tilde{h}_0 = \sum_{i=1}^N h_i$.

Proof. The functional form of the harmonic functions (177–179) is required by Theorem 1 and (136–137). By Lemma 1 $f \neq 0$ on a dense submanifold, and since zeros of f and H coincide by (28) and assumption (ix), H cannot be identically zero, which implies (186). Smoothness requires that $h_i = \pm 1$ at a fixed point (153), and $h_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ at a horizon component (151), which also determines the horizon topology. The 1-forms χ, ξ then obtained by simple integration of (19, 23), where we introduced constants of integration χ_0^i such that $\chi_0^i + h_i \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ for all i. The latter requirement follows from the correct identification of the angles around a horizon component (152) and fixed point (158). For the integration of (22), we follow [27,32,69], and introduce 1-forms β_{ij} as a solution to

$$\star_3 d\beta_{ij} = \frac{1}{r_i} d\left(\frac{1}{r_j}\right) - \frac{1}{r_j} d\left(\frac{1}{r_i}\right) + \frac{1}{r_{ij}} d\left(\frac{1}{r_i} - \frac{1}{r_j}\right), \tag{191}$$

with $r_{ij} = |\mathbf{a}_i - \mathbf{a}_j|$. One can easily check that β_{ij} as given in (184) is a smooth 1-form away from the centres on \mathbb{R}^3 , in particular, it is free of string singularities. (22) is then solved by

$$\hat{\omega} = \sum_{\substack{i, j = 1 \\ i \neq j}}^{N} \left(h_i m_j + \frac{3}{2} k_i l_j \right) \beta_{ij} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \omega_{-1}^i \beta_i,$$
 (192)

where

$$\omega_{-1}^{i} := hm_{i} - mh_{i} + \frac{3}{2}(kl_{i} - lk_{i}) + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq i}}^{N} \frac{h_{j}m_{i} - m_{j}h_{i} + \frac{3}{2}(k_{j}l_{i} - l_{j}k_{i})}{|\boldsymbol{a}_{i} - \boldsymbol{a}_{j}|}.$$
(193)

Notice that for a local expansion around a centre as in (145) the first two coefficients for the harmonic functions are given by

$$h_{-1} = h_i, h_0 = h + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{N} \frac{h_j}{r_{ij}}, k_{-1} = k_i, k_0 = k + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{N} \frac{k_j}{r_{ij}}, (194)$$

$$l_{-1} = l_i, l_0 = l + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq i}}^{N} \frac{l_j}{r_{ij}}, m_{-1} = m_i, m_0 = m + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq i}}^{N} \frac{m_j}{r_{ij}}.$$
 (195)

Thus, we see that at each centre (157) and (150) is equivalent to $\omega_{-1}^i = 0$, which yields (185) and (181). With the lack of string singularities in $\hat{\omega}$ all conditions of (157) and (150) are satisfied. The remaining smoothness conditions at fixed points (153–156) give (187–188) and at a horizon component (146) yields (189). (190) is the necessary and sufficient condition for smoothness of the solution at generic points (144). Up until this point the proof is in essence identical to that of the asymptotically flat classification in [19].

All that remains to be checked is that the solution is asymptotically Kaluza–Klein. In the asymptotically timelike case, using (21) and (24) we have $f = 1 + \mathcal{O}(|\boldsymbol{x}|^{-1})$, $\omega_{\psi} = \tilde{L}\gamma v_H + \mathcal{O}(|\boldsymbol{x}|^{-1})$. In the asymptotically null case, it is simpler to evaluate the metric components directly by using (10) of [29] to obtain

$$g_{tt} = \mathcal{O}(|\mathbf{x}|^{-1}), \ g_{t\psi} = -\tilde{L} + \mathcal{O}(|\mathbf{x}|^{-1}),$$

 $g_{\psi\psi} = \tilde{L}^2 + \mathcal{O}(|\mathbf{x}|^{-1}), \ \frac{H}{f} = \tilde{L}^{-2} + \mathcal{O}(|\mathbf{x}|^{-1}).$ (196)

In both cases from (191) and (181) $\hat{\omega} = \mathcal{O}(|\mathbf{x}|^{-2}) dx^i$, and χ is given by

$$\chi = \left(\tilde{\chi}_0 + \frac{\tilde{h}_0 z}{r}\right) d\phi + \mathcal{O}(|\boldsymbol{x}|^{-2}) dx^i, \tag{197}$$

where

$$\tilde{h}_0 = \sum_{i=1}^N h_i, \, \tilde{\chi}_0 = \sum_{i=1}^N \chi_0^i.$$
(198)

It is straightforward to check that the metric is asymptotically Kaluza–Klein with the coordinates defined in (67–68) for the asymptotically timelike case, and (76–77) for the asymptotically null case. From (182), it follows that $\tilde{h}_0 + \tilde{\chi}_0 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$, so the given solution is compatible with our initial assumption made in Sect. 6.1.1, and the geometry of the 'sphere' at infinity is indeed that of S^3 (for $\tilde{h}_0 = \pm 1$), $S^2 \times S^1$ (for $\tilde{h}_0 = 0$), or $L(|\tilde{h}_0|, 1)$.

Theorem 3. An asymptotically Kaluza–Klein (in the sense of Definition 1), supersymmetric black hole or soliton solution (\mathcal{M}, g, F) of D = 5 minimal supergravity with an axial symmetry satisfying assumptions (i)-(x) of Sect. 2, for which the supersymmetric Killing field V is globally null, must be of the form

$$g = -\frac{1}{G}(Q_0 du^2 + 2 du dv) + G^2 dx^i dx^i,$$
 (199)

$$F = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \star_3 d\mathcal{G},\tag{200}$$

with

$$G(x) = \tilde{L}^{-1} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{\gamma_i}{|x - a_i|}, \qquad Q_0(x) = -\tilde{L} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{q_i}{|x - a_i|}$$
 (201)

with constants

$$\tilde{L} > 0, \qquad \gamma_i > 0, \qquad q_i < 0,$$
 (202)

and $\mathbf{a}_i \in \mathbb{R}^3$ correspond to connected components of the horizon with topology $S^2 \times S^1$. The topology at infinity is $S^2 \times S^1$.

Proof. Theorem 1 says that the solution is globally determined by three multicentred harmonic functions through (30) and (36–38), where each centre corresponds to a connected component of the horizon. The constant terms in (201) are fixed by asymptotic behaviour of the metric. Regularity of the horizon requires that $\mathcal{K}=0$ by Lemma 11, and thus by Corollary 4 the metric and the Maxwell field are of the claimed form with $\mathcal{Q}=\mathcal{Q}_0$. The constant \tilde{L} is positive by Definition 1, and (161- 162) for each centre translate to (202). In Sect. 6.2 we have seen that this is sufficient for the solution to be smooth on and outside the horizon. One can also easily check that the metric asymptotes to (11) with coordinates defined by

$$u^{0} = v, \qquad \tilde{\psi} = u - \tilde{L}^{-1}v, \qquad u^{i} = \tilde{L}^{-1}x^{i}.$$
 (203)

One can check that the geometry at infinity $(v = \text{const}, r \to \infty)$ is $S^2 \times S^1$.

Remarks.

1. If one removes the condition (186) from Theorem 2, which violates the assumption that the solution is in the timelike class, one exactly obtains the solutions in Theorem 3 with

$$H = 0, \quad K = \mathcal{G}, \quad L = 0, \quad M = \mathcal{Q}/2.$$
 (204)

The proof of Theorem 2 heavily relies on the timelike Gibbons–Hawking ansatz, so it is not obvious *a priori* that one can relax (186). A possible explanation is that these solutions have a common six-dimensional origin, from which one can obtain the timelike and null class by a Kaluza–Klein reduction along different directions [59].

2. The null solutions in Theorem 3 can also be obtained as a limit of certain asymptotically null solutions in Theorem 2, where we define

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{x}} := \epsilon \boldsymbol{x}, \quad \tilde{\boldsymbol{a}}_i := \epsilon \boldsymbol{a}_i, \quad \gamma_i := \epsilon k_i, \quad q_i := 2\epsilon m_i,$$
 (205)

and we take $\epsilon \to 0$ while keeping $\tilde{\boldsymbol{x}}$, $\tilde{\boldsymbol{a}}_i$, γ^i and q^i fixed. Then $\tilde{\boldsymbol{x}}$ becomes the cartesian coordinate of the null solutions and $\tilde{\boldsymbol{a}}_i$ are the positions of the centres. One can check that the parameter constraints of Theorem 2 are consistent with those of Theorem 3.

3. In the null case, the geometry of a spatial slice Σ is given by:

$$q|_{v=\text{const.}} = -\mathcal{Q}_0 \mathcal{G}^{-1} du^2 + \mathcal{G}^2 dx^i dx^i, \tag{206}$$

thus the DOC has the topology of a trivial circle fibration over $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^N a_i$ (and hence the 'sphere' at infinity has $S^2 \times S^1$ geometry). This is a consequence of the lack of fixed points and that all horizon components correspond to black rings. The latter is a necessary consequence of the near-horizon analysis, while the former follows from the assumption that the Killing fields have a timelike linear combination at each point of the DOC. It would be interesting to investigate whether solutions violating this assumption exist.

- 4. The constants have the following physical meaning. v_H is velocity of the horizon in the Kaluza–Klein direction with respect to the asymptotic observer [39], and γ is the corresponding relativistic factor. This is apparent from $V = \gamma(\partial_0 v_H \tilde{W})$, where \tilde{W} is the unit vector in the Kaluza–Klein direction, and V is tangent to the generators of the horizon. \tilde{L} sets the length of the Kaluza–Klein direction at infinity.
- 5. Known constructions of supersymmetric Kaluza–Klein black holes of this theory [30,39–50] use the timelike ansatz with a hyper-Kähler base, in particular (multi-)Taub-NUT space, and hence, they all belong to the asymptotically timelike case of Theorem 2. This can be seen from the asymptotic behaviour of the harmonic function H. For example in [39], one centre corresponds to a 'nut'-type fixed point (or a spherical black hole when they 'hide' the nut singularity behind a horizon), while another one to a black ring.
- 6. As with flat asymptotics, in the timelike case it is not known whether (185–190) guarantees that the DOC is globally hyperbolic. In fact, it is not clear what the sufficient conditions are for it to be stably causal $(g^{tt} < 0)$, which is a consequence of global hyperbolicity. In [70], it has been conjectured that positivity of $N^{-1} = K^2 + HL$ (which is necessary for smoothness at generic points) implies the lack of closed timelike curves for soliton solutions, which has been supported by numerical evidence. In line with this conjecture, in [19,24] numerical tests found no smooth asymptotically flat black holes with positive ADM mass that violated stable causality. In contrast, in the null case by (176) $g^{vv} = \mathcal{GQ} < 0$, so the spacetime is stably causal automatically with no further constraints on the parameters.

7. All solutions of Theorem 3, and those of Theorem 2 for which $K \equiv 0$ (which includes all static solutions) have been argued to be exact string backgrounds [59].

8. A Classification of Four-Dimensional Supersymmetric Black Holes from Kaluza–Klein Reduction

In this section, we consider the dimensional reduction of the five-dimensional solutions classified in Theorem 2–3 and determine the subclass for which the reduced solutions are smooth on and outside the horizon. We perform the Kaluza–Klein reduction along the direction of W in coordinates adapted to it,¹⁷ so that $W = \partial_{\psi}$. For the dimensionally reduced theory, we will follow the field definitions of [39], which are given by

$$g =: e^{\Phi/\sqrt{3}} g^{(4)} + e^{-2\Phi/\sqrt{3}} (d\psi + A)^2, \qquad A =: A^{(4)} + \rho d\psi,$$
 (207)

$$F^{(4)} := dA^{(4)} - d\rho \wedge A,$$
 $G^{(4)} := dA.$ (208)

Here we used that since $\mathcal{L}_W F = 0$, we are free to work in a gauge in which $\mathcal{L}_W A = 0$. $g^{(4)}$ is the four-dimensional metric, $A^{(4)}$ and A are one-form potentials, and Φ , ρ are scalar fields. The action (2) then reduces to

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi G_4} \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} \left(R^{(4)} \star 1 - \frac{1}{2} \star d\Phi \wedge d\Phi - 2e^{2\Phi/\sqrt{3}} \star d\rho \wedge d\rho - \frac{1}{2} e^{-\sqrt{3}\Phi} G^{(4)} \wedge \star G^{(4)} - 2e^{-\Phi/\sqrt{3}} F^{(4)} \wedge \star F^{(4)} - \frac{8}{\sqrt{3}} \rho dA^{(4)} \wedge dA^{(4)} \right),$$
(209)

where $G_4 = G/4\pi$, and $R^{(4)}$ denotes the Ricci scalar of $g^{(4)}$.

It is important to establish which fields are physical, as we will require the smoothness of those only. Physical fields must be invariant under five-dimensional coordinate changes of the form $\psi' = \psi + \mu(t, x^i)$ and gauge transformations which preserve the gauge condition $\mathcal{L}_W A = 0$. Since $\iota_W dA$ is invariant, and $0 = \mathcal{L}_W (A' - A) = \mathrm{d}(\iota_W A' - \iota_W A)$, the allowed gauge transformations must be of the form $A' = A + \mathrm{d}\lambda(t, x^i) + c\mathrm{d}\psi$ with some constant c. Under such transformations, the fields transform as

$$A^{(4)\prime} = A^{(4)} + d(\lambda - c\mu) - \rho d\mu, \qquad A' = A - d\mu, \qquad \rho' = \rho + c, \quad (210)$$
$$g^{(4)\prime} = g^{(4)}, \qquad F^{(4)\prime} = F^{(4)}, \qquad G^{(4)\prime} = G^{(4)}, \qquad \Phi' = \Phi, \qquad d\rho' = d\rho, \quad (211)$$

hence the physical fields are those in (211).

¹⁷ This ψ coordinate in general may be different from previous sections, but for certain gauge choice coincides with the ψ coordinate of the timelike case, or the u coordinate of the null case.

Remarks.

- 1. Even though the last term of (209) contains gauge-dependent fields, the theory is gauge invariant since the five-dimensional theory is. Indeed, one can check that the equations of motion of (209) contain only the physical fields (211).
- 2. Ref. [40] uses an alternative definition for the 2-form field $F^{(4)}$, that is

$$\tilde{F}^{(4)} := F^{(4)} - \rho G^{(4)} = d \left(A^{(4)} - \rho A \right),$$
(212)

thus it is closed (as opposed to $F^{(4)}$). It is evident from its definition that smoothness of $\tilde{F}^{(4)}$ is equivalent to the smoothness of $F^{(4)}$ (assuming the other fields in (211) are smooth), since for solutions with a simply connected DOC (which are the relevant ones here due to topological censorship), ρ is globally defined by $d\rho$ up to an additive constant, so $d\rho$ is smooth if and only if ρ is smooth.

Now we establish the subclass of solutions classified in Theorem 2 and 3 that reduce to a four-dimensional solution that is smooth on and outside the horizon.

Theorem 4. A solution to five-dimensional minimal supergravity as in Theorem 2 defines a four-dimensional, asymptotically flat black hole solution of (209) if and only if all centres correspond to horizon components (i.e. there are no fixed points of the axial Killing field) and

$$D := \frac{3}{4}K^2L^2 - 2K^3M + HL^3 - 3HKLM - H^2M^2 > 0$$
 (213)

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{a_1, \dots, a_N\}$. Then, the four-dimensional solution is given by

$$g^{(4)} = -D^{-1/2}(dt + \hat{\omega})^2 + D^{1/2}dx^i dx^i,$$
(214)

$$\Phi = -\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}\log(DN^2), \qquad \rho = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{4}\frac{KL + 2HM}{K^2 + HL} + c, \qquad (215)$$

$$G^{(4)} = dA = d \left[\chi - \frac{2H^2M + 3HKL + 2K^3}{2D} (dt + \hat{\omega}) \right], \qquad (216)$$

$$F^{(4)} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} d \left[\frac{H}{K^2 + HL} (dt + \hat{\omega}) - \xi \right] + (\rho - c) d\chi + \frac{2H^2M + 3HKL + 2K^3}{2D} d\rho \wedge (dt + \hat{\omega}),$$
 (217)

where $N^{-1} = K^2 + HL$, c is an arbitrary constant, H, K, L, M are given by (177–179), and 1-forms $\chi, \hat{\omega}, \xi$ are given by (180–184).

Theorem 5. A solution to five-dimensional minimal supergravity as in Theorem 3 defines a four-dimensional, asymptotically flat black hole solution of (209), given by

$$g^{(4)} = -\frac{dv^2}{\sqrt{-\mathcal{Q}\mathcal{G}^3}} + \sqrt{-\mathcal{Q}\mathcal{G}^3} dx^i dx^i, \qquad \Phi = -\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \log\left(-\frac{\mathcal{Q}}{\mathcal{G}}\right), \quad (218)$$

$$\rho = 0, \qquad F^{(4)} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \star_3 d\mathcal{G}, \qquad G^{(4)} = \mathcal{Q}^{-2} dv \wedge d\mathcal{Q},$$
 (219)

where \mathcal{G} and \mathcal{Q} are given by (201) with (202).

Proof of Theorem 4 and 5. It is easy to see that the four-dimensional fields are related to five-dimensional smooth invariants by

$$g^{(4)} = g(W, W)^{1/2} g - g(W, W)^{-1/2} W^{\flat} \otimes W^{\flat}, \qquad \Phi = -\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \log g(W, W),$$
$$d\rho = -\iota_W F, \quad F^{(4)} = F + \frac{(\iota_W F) \wedge W^{\flat}}{g(W, W)}, \quad G^{(4)} = d\left(\frac{W^{\flat}}{g(W, W)}\right). \quad (220)$$

Hence, in Theorem 4 the four-dimensional fields (214–217) are smooth¹⁸ if and only if $g(W, W) = N^2 D > 0$. Since $W \neq 0$ on the horizon (Corollary 3 of [19]), this is satisfied if and only if (i) there are no fixed points of W in the DOC, i.e. all the centres of (177) correspond to horizon components, and (ii) D > 0 away from the centres (213). A calculation using the explicit form of the solution together with equation (10) of [29] yields the right-hand sides of (214–217).

In the null case in Theorem 5 g(W, W) > 0, so the four-dimensional fields are smooth, and (218–219) comes from direct calculation using (199–200) and (207–208).

Finally, using the asymptotic explicit form of the harmonic functions, one can easily check that the four-metric approaches the Minkowski metric in coordinates¹⁹

$$\bar{t} = \tilde{L}^{1/2} (1 - v_H^2)^{-1/2} t, \qquad \bar{x}^i = \tilde{L}^{-1/2} (1 - v_H^2)^{1/2} x^i,$$
 (221)

and

$$\bar{t} = \tilde{L}^{1/2}v, \qquad \bar{x}^i = \tilde{L}^{-1/2}x^i, \qquad (222)$$

in the asymptotically timelike and null case, 20 respectively.

Remarks.

- 1. As seen for the five-dimensional solutions (see Remark 1 after Theorem 3), Theorem 4 can be extended, by omitting (186) from its assumptions, to include solutions of Theorem 5. The identification of harmonic functions is then given by (204).
- 2. For globally hyperbolic, hence stably causal, five-dimensional solutions of Theorem 4, W must be spacelike in the DOC, so (213) must hold. In some neighbourhood of each horizon component (189) guarantees that (213) is satisfied, however there is no known sufficient condition for it to hold on the whole of the DOC. There is numerical evidence that this does not restrict the moduli further than the smoothness conditions (see Remark

¹⁸ Since they are invariant under W, i.e. $W \cdot X = 0 = \mathcal{L}_W X$ for all X in (214–216), they descend to \mathcal{M}_4 smoothly, which we can identify with the orbit space of the U(1) action.

¹⁹The factors of $\tilde{L}^{1/2}$ appear in (221–222) because we chose to reduce along a dimensionless coordinate ψ , so $g^{(4)}$ has length dimension 3, and thus, the asymptotic coordinates \bar{t} , \bar{x}^i have 3/2.

 $^{^{20}}$ In the asymptotically but not globally null case we have t instead of v in (222).

- after Theorem 2). For Theorem 5 there is no analogous requirement, as for all such five-dimensional solutions g(W, W) > 0 in the DOC.
- 3. The solutions of Theorem 4 and 5 have been first described by Denef et al. [54–56], with the explicit form of the solutions given in Section 4 of [56]. Spherically symmetric solutions of the same form appear in [71]. The connection to five-dimensional solutions has been explored in detail in [39,40,52,53]. Here we extend this connection by providing a classification of these solutions.
- 4. The five-dimensional Killing spinor locally defines a four-dimensional Killing spinor of (209) as shown in Appendix B. We have not investigated the possible spin structures of \mathcal{M} or \mathcal{M}_4 and their compatibility (for more details, see e.g. [72]); hence, the Killing spinor might be defined only up to a sign globally. The proofs only use the Killing spinor bilinears which are invariant under such sign change.

Now we establish the converse of Theorems 4–5 to classify the asymptotically flat black hole solutions of (209). For asymptotic flatness, we use the following definition.²¹

Definition 2. A four-dimensional spacetime is asymptotically flat if it has an end diffeomorphic to $\mathbb{R} \times (\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus B^3)$, and on this end the metric $g^{(4)} = -\mathrm{d} u^0 \mathrm{d} u^0 + \delta_{ij} \mathrm{d} u^i \mathrm{d} u^j + \mathcal{O}(R^{-\alpha}) \mathrm{d} u^a \mathrm{d} u^b$ for some $\alpha > 0$, where (u^0, u^i) , i = 1, 2, 3 are the pull-back of the cartesian coordinates on $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^3$ and $R := \sqrt{\delta_{ij} u^i u^j}$, and the k^{th} derivatives of the metric fall off as $\mathcal{O}(R^{-\alpha-k})$ for k = 1, 2 in these coordinates.

We assume that $(\mathcal{M}_4, g^{(4)}, \Phi, \rho, F^{(4)}, G^{(4)})$ is a solution of (209) such that

- (i) the solution admits a globally defined Killing spinor $\epsilon^{(4)}$, i.e. it is supersymmetric,
- (ii) the DOC, $\langle\langle \mathcal{M}_4\rangle\rangle$ is globally hyperbolic,
- (iii) $\langle\langle \mathcal{M}_4\rangle\rangle$ is asymptotically flat in the sense of Definition 2,
- (iv) the supersymmetric Killing field $V^{(4)}$ is complete, timelike on $\langle\langle \mathcal{M}_4\rangle\rangle$, and in the asymptotic coordinates of Definition 2 it is given by $V^{(4)} = \partial_0$,
- (v) the horizon \mathcal{H}_4 admits a smooth compact cross-section (which may not be connected),
- (vi) $\langle\langle \mathcal{M}_4\rangle\rangle \cup \mathcal{H}_4$ admits a Cauchy surface Σ_4 that is a union of a compact set and an asymptotically flat end,
- (vii) the metric and the fields are smooth (C^{∞}) on and outside the horizon,
- (viii) there exists a gauge such that the k^{th} derivatives of the fields $\Phi, \rho, \mathcal{A}, A^{(4)}$ in the asymptotic chart fall off as $\mathcal{O}(R^{-\beta-k})$ for k=1,2 and some $\beta>0$,
 - (ix) $G^{(4)}$ is the curvature of a smooth connection η on a principal U(1)-bundle over \mathcal{M}_4 .

 $^{^{21} \}mathrm{In}$ this section, indices $abc\dots$ denote four-dimensional spacetime indices in contrast to previous sections.

Theorem 6. Let $(\mathcal{M}_4, g^{(4)}, \Phi, \rho, F^{(4)}, G^{(4)})$ be a solution of (209) satisfying assumptions (i)-(ix). Then, it must belong to the class derived in Theorems 4–5. In particular, it is globally determined by four harmonic functions of the form (177–179) satisfying (185), (189–190), (213), and the solution is given by (214–217) together with (180–184).

Proof. By assumption (ix), we can uplift the solution to five dimensions, identifying \mathcal{M} with the total space of the U(1)-bundle, on which we define the five-dimensional metric g and Maxwell field F as

$$g = e^{\Phi/\sqrt{3}} \pi^* g^{(4)} + e^{-2\Phi/\sqrt{3}} \eta^2, \qquad F = \pi^* F^{(4)} + \pi^* d\rho \wedge \eta,$$
 (223)

where $\pi: \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}_4$ is the bundle projection. The Killing spinor $\epsilon^{(4)}$ lifts to a five-dimensional Killing spinor ϵ , invariant under the U(1)-symmetry [73] (also see Appendix B). Thus, $(\mathcal{M}, g, F, \epsilon)$ is a supersymmetric solution of (2) (as we have just undone the dimensional reduction). We will now show that it satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 2 or 3, hence $(\mathcal{M}_4, g^{(4)}, \Phi, \rho, F^{(4)}, G^{(4)})$ must belong to the class of Theorem 4 or 5. Note that we include the latter solutions by not assuming (186) for the harmonic function H (see also Remark 1 after Theorem 5).

We first prove that the five-dimensional DOC, $\langle\langle\mathcal{M}\rangle\rangle$, is globally hyperbolic by showing that $\Sigma = \pi^{-1}(\Sigma_4)$ is a Cauchy surface. Let $p \in \langle\langle\mathcal{M}\rangle\rangle$, γ an inextendible causal curve through p in (\mathcal{M}, g) , and U its tangent vector. From causality of γ

$$0 \ge g(U, U) = e^{\Phi/\sqrt{3}} g^{(4)}(\pi_* U, \pi_* U) + e^{-2\Phi/\sqrt{3}} [\eta(U)]^2 \ge e^{\Phi/\sqrt{3}} g^{(4)}(\pi_* U, \pi_* U),$$
(224)

thus π_*U defines a causal curve γ_4 in \mathcal{M}_4 . By assumption (ii) γ_4 goes through Σ_4 , hence γ goes through Σ . Acausality of Σ follows from a similar argument; therefore, it is a Cauchy surface, and $\langle \langle \mathcal{M} \rangle \rangle$ is globally hyperbolic.

Next we show that (\mathcal{M},g) is asymptotically Kaluza–Klein according to Definition 1. By compactness of the fibres and assumption (vi), Definition 1(i) is satisfied. The Dirac currents of ϵ and $\epsilon^{(4)}$ define the supersymmetric Killing fields V and $V^{(4)}$ on \mathcal{M} and \mathcal{M}_4 , respectively. Let W be the generator of the U(1) action normalised such that its integral curves are 4π -periodic. $^{22}[W,V]=0$ since ϵ is U(1)-invariant, and $\pi_*V=V^{(4)}$ (for details see Appendix B). Let us adapt local coordinates to the vertical vector field so that $W=\partial_\psi$ and $\psi\sim\psi+4\pi$. It is obvious that W is a Killing field of g (that also preserves F). In such a chart the connection is given by $\eta=\mathrm{d}\psi+\mathcal{A}$. V preserves g and W, so it must also preserve $\eta=W^\flat/g(W,W)$. We may partially fix the gauge by requiring $\mathcal{L}_V\mathcal{A}=0$, then we have

$$0 = \mathcal{L}_V d\psi = d\iota_V d\psi = dV^{\psi}, \tag{225}$$

thus $V^{\psi} = c$ for some constant c. By assumption (iv) on the asymptotic end $\pi_* V = V^{(4)} = \partial_0$, hence

$$V = \partial_0 + c\partial_{\psi}. \tag{226}$$

²² Here we use an uncanonical parametrisation of U(1), where the parameter is 4π -periodic.

It follows from assumption (viii) that

$$\Phi = \Phi_0 + \mathcal{O}(R^{-\beta}), \qquad G^{(4)} = d\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{O}(R^{-\beta-1})du^a \wedge du^b. \tag{227}$$

Our gauge condition (225) and (226) imply

$$d\iota_{\partial_0} \mathcal{A} = -\iota_{\partial_0} d\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{O}(R^{-\beta - 1}) du^a \implies \mathcal{A}_0 = \tilde{c} + \mathcal{O}(R^{-\beta}), \tag{228}$$

with some constant \tilde{c} . Equation (227) implies that the rest of A can be written in a gauge without changing the form of the Killing fields such that

$$\mathcal{A} = (\tilde{c} + \mathcal{O}(R^{-\beta})) du^0 + \mathcal{O}(R^{-\beta}) du^i.$$
 (229)

The leading-order behaviour of the five-dimensional metric then becomes

$$g = e^{\Phi_0/\sqrt{3}} \eta_{ab} du^a du^b + e^{-2\Phi_0/\sqrt{3}} (d\psi + \tilde{c}du^0)^2 + \mathcal{O}(R^{-\tau}) du^\mu du^\nu$$
 (230)

for some $\tau = \min\{\alpha, \beta\}$, and η_{ab} denoting the 4D Minkowski metric. By defining $\psi' = \psi + \tilde{c}u^0$ and rescaling the coordinates by constants, we get a metric of the form (11), with Φ_0 determining the asymptotic length scale \tilde{L} of the Kaluza–Klein direction. By assumption (viii) and because there is no dependence on ψ , the first two derivatives of the metric have the fall-off as in Definition 1(ii), and the components of the Riemann tensor fall off as $\mathcal{O}(R^{-\tau-2})$. We also see from (226) and from the final coordinate change that ∂_0 is a constant linear combination of V and W.

Finally, we need to check if the span of the supersymmetric and U(1) Killing field is timelike. For this, by (28) and (223) on $\langle\langle\mathcal{M}\rangle\rangle$

$$N = -\left[e^{\Phi/\sqrt{3}}\pi^*g^{(4)}(V,V) + e^{-2\Phi/\sqrt{3}}[\eta(V)]^2\right]e^{-2\Phi/\sqrt{3}} + \left[e^{-2\Phi/\sqrt{3}}\eta(V)\right]^2$$
$$= -e^{-\Phi/\sqrt{3}}g^{(4)}(V^{(4)},V^{(4)}), \tag{231}$$

which is positive on $\langle\langle \mathcal{M} \rangle\rangle$ by assumption (iv). That is, at each point of $\langle\langle \mathcal{M} \rangle\rangle$ the determinant of the inner product matrix of Killing fields is negative, hence there exists a timelike linear combination of V and W.

Remarks.

- 1. Let us emphasise that we have not assumed any isometry apart from stationarity, which is guaranteed by supersymmetry (for a class of D=4 supergravities see [74]). Indeed, generically, solutions of Theorem 6 only have a single Killing field.
- 2. Assumption (ix) quantises the magnetic charges of the black holes associated with $G^{(4)}$, which in terms of the harmonic functions means that $h_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ for H in (177). Omitting this requirement leads to a more general class of black holes in four dimensions, however those cannot be uplifted to get a smooth black hole solution in five dimensions.
- 3. The requirement that the supersymmetric Killing field is timelike in assumption (iv) was also required for uniqueness of four-dimensional supersymmetric, asymptotically flat black holes in minimal supergravity [75], which shows that the general solution belongs to the Majumdar–Papapetrou (MP) class. Alternatively, in minimal supergravity, one can assume the existence of a maximal hypersurface with a finite number of

asymptotically flat or weakly cylindrical ends and prove that the Killing field is strictly timelike and static (see Theorem 1.2 of [75]). This reasoning would not work for the black holes considered in the current work, as these solutions are not static in general.

4. The black holes of Theorem 5 are a generalisation of the aforementioned MP black holes. They are static solutions that depend on two harmonic function on \mathbb{R}^3 , and they are, in general, solutions to the full theory (209). If $\mathcal{Q} = -\mathcal{G}$, we obtain solutions to four-dimensional minimal supergravity²³ (Einstein-Maxwell), which describe magnetically charged MP black holes. In detail,

$$g^{(4)} = -\mathcal{G}^{-2} dv^2 + \mathcal{G}^2 dx^i dx^i, \qquad F^{(4)} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \star_3 d\mathcal{G}.$$
 (232)

In contrast, the electrically charged and dyonic MP black holes (with quantised charges) belong to the asymptotically timelike class of Theorem 4 with harmonic functions K=0, $L=\gamma^2 H$, $M=\gamma^3 v_H H$, and parameter $\tilde{L}=1$. For the detailed derivation see the end of Section 3.7 in [34], with the only difference that we used 'gauge' freedom (27) to set $K\equiv 0$ in agreement with our previous choice in Theorem 1 for the asymptotic values of the harmonic functions. The solution is given by

$$g^{(4)} = -(\gamma H)^{-2} dt^2 + (\gamma H)^2 dx^i dx^i,$$

$$F^{(4)} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \left[(\gamma H)^{-2} dt \wedge dH + \gamma v_H \star_3 dH \right].$$
 (233)

Thus, for $0 < |v_H| < 1$ we obtain dyonic MP black holes, while $v_H = 0$ yields electrostatic MP black holes.

5. In Remark 4, all static, supersymmetric solutions of minimal fourdimensional supergravity (with quantised charges) have been obtained. It is an interesting task to determine all static solutions of the full theory (209) (again, with quantised charges). This includes all solutions in Theorem 5, but also requires deriving the set of harmonic functions that yield $d\hat{\omega} = 0$ and satisfy the constraints of Theorem 2 and 4. Staticity in the timelike case implies that f^{-1} is harmonic [34], thus by (24) K = cHfor some constant c (so we are in the asymptotically timelike case by (178-179)). By $(22) d\hat{\omega} = 0$ requires M + 3cL/3 = kH for some other constant k. Again, changing the 'gauge' of (27) such that $K \equiv 0$ yields that M = c'H for a constant c', and L is unconstrained. H, L, c' must be such that (189-190) and (213) are satisfied. Asymptotic constants (178) fix $c' = \tilde{L}^3 \gamma^3 v_H$. Inequality (190) yields (together with (178)) that H > 0and L>0 on their domain, i.e. $h_i>0$ and $l_i>0$. Then, (213) (which implies (189)) is satisfied if and only if $l_i > |c'|^{2/3}h_i$ at each centre, and does not impose any further constraint on the parameters v_H and \tilde{L} . In summary, as in the null case (Theorem 5), the static solutions of the

²³Consistent truncation of (209) to 4D Einstein-Maxwell is achieved by $\Phi=0$, $d\rho=0$, $F^{(4)}=\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}\star_4 G^{(4)}$ [34].

timelike case are determined by two harmonic functions, with parameters satisfying $l_i > \tilde{L}\gamma |v_H|^{2/3}h_i > 0$ and $h_i \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank James Lucietti for suggesting this project, the many helpful conversations, and his comments on the manuscript. This work is supported by an EPSRC studentship.

Funding The author is supported by an EPSRC studentship.

Data Availability Statement Data sharing is not applicable to this article as no datasets were generated or analysed during the current study.

Declarations

Conflict of interest The author has no relevant financial or non-financial interests to disclose.

Open Access. This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Appendix A: Asymptotic Fall-Off of Riemann Tensor

We obtain the following estimate on the curvature of the Levi-Civita connection for q on the asymptotically Kaluza–Klein end.

Claim. The components of the Riemann tensor of g fall off as $R^{\mu}_{\nu\lambda\kappa} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2})$ in asymptotic coordinates of Definition 1.

Proof. We will use ijk... indices for $\{u^1,u^2,u^3\}$, abc... for $\{u^0,u^i\}$, and $\mu\nu...$ for all coordinates $\{u^a,\tilde{\psi}\}$. Since ∂_0 is Killing, all u^0 derivatives vanish. It is easy to check from Definition 1 that the Christoffel symbols have the following fall-off

$$\Gamma^c_{ab} = -\frac{1}{2} g^{c\tilde{\psi}} \partial_{\tilde{\psi}} g_{ab} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-1}), \quad \Gamma^{\tilde{\psi}}_{ab} = -\frac{1}{2} g^{\tilde{\psi}\tilde{\psi}} \partial_{\tilde{\psi}} g_{ab} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-1}),$$

$$\Gamma^{a}_{\tilde{\psi}b} = \frac{1}{2}g^{ac}\partial_{\tilde{\psi}}g_{bc} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau})\partial_{\tilde{\psi}}g_{cb} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-1}), \quad \Gamma^{\tilde{\psi}}_{a\tilde{\psi}} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau})\partial_{\tilde{\psi}}g_{ca} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-1}),
\Gamma^{a}_{\tilde{\psi}\tilde{\psi}} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}), \quad \Gamma^{\tilde{\psi}}_{\tilde{\psi}\tilde{\psi}} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}).$$
(234)

Now we use the assumed fall-off of the Ricci tensor in Definition 1 to get

$$\mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2}) = R_{ab} = R^c{}_{acb} + R^{\tilde{\psi}}{}_{a\tilde{\psi}b} = -\frac{1}{\tilde{L}^2} \partial_{\tilde{\psi}}^2 g_{ab} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}) \partial_{\tilde{\psi}} g_{cd} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-1}).$$
(235)

One can show using boundedness of the $\tilde{\psi}$ direction and the Mean Value Theorem that $\partial_{\tilde{\psi}}^2 g_{ab} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\alpha}) \implies \partial_{\tilde{\psi}} g_{ab} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\alpha})$. Using this iteratively with (235), one deduces that $\partial_{\tilde{\psi}} g_{ab} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-1})$. Thus,

$$\Gamma^{\mu}_{a\nu} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-1}), \qquad \Gamma^{\mu}_{\tilde{\psi}\tilde{\psi}} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}).$$
(236)

Taking a derivative ∂_c of (235) and using our assumption about the fall-off of $\partial_c R_{ab}$, by the same argument for $\partial_a \partial_{\tilde{\psi}} g_{bc}$, we obtain $\partial_a \Gamma^{\mu}_{b\nu} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2})$.

It immediately follows that $R^a{}_{bcd}=\mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2}),~R^{\tilde{\psi}}{}_{abc}=\mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2}),$ and by the fall-off of the Ricci tensor so does $R^{\tilde{\psi}}{}_{a\tilde{\psi}b}=-R^c{}_{acb}+\mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2})=\mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2}).$ Using symmetries of the Riemann tensor, we also have

$$(\eta_{cd} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}))R^{d}_{\ a\tilde{\psi}b} = -g_{c\tilde{\psi}}R^{\tilde{\psi}}_{\ a\tilde{\psi}b} + g_{\tilde{\psi}\tilde{\psi}}R^{\tilde{\psi}}_{\ bca} + g_{\tilde{\psi}d}R^{d}_{\ bca} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2})$$

$$\Longrightarrow R^{c}_{\ a\tilde{\psi}b} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2}).$$
(237)

Using the algebraic Bianchi identity, we obtain $R^c_{\ \tilde{\psi}ab} = -R^c_{\ b\tilde{\psi}a} + R^c_{\ a\tilde{\psi}b} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2})$, and by the fall-off of the Ricci tensor $R^{\tilde{\psi}}_{\ \tilde{\psi}\tilde{\psi}a} = -R^d_{\ \tilde{\psi}da} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2}) = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2})$. Finally, we have

$$(\eta_{cd} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau}))R^{d}_{\tilde{\psi}\tilde{\psi}b} = -g_{c\psi}R^{\tilde{\psi}}_{\tilde{\psi}\tilde{\psi}b} + g_{\tilde{\psi}\tilde{\psi}}R^{\tilde{\psi}}_{bc\tilde{\psi}} + g_{\tilde{\psi}d}R^{d}_{bc\tilde{\psi}} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2})$$

$$\Longrightarrow R^{c}_{\tilde{\psi}\tilde{\psi}b} = \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^{-\tau-2}). \tag{238}$$

When $f \neq 0$ and the base is well-defined as a Riemannian manifold, it is Ricci flat. The above argument works with just replacing abc... indices with ijk...

Appendix B: Killing Spinor Equation in Four and Five Dimensions

In this section we reduce the five-dimensional Killing spinor equation to four dimensions, and derive the four-dimensional Killing spinor. We also prove that its Dirac-current is the four-dimensional projection of the five-dimensional supersymmetric Killing field.

The Killing spinor equation (KSE) of five-dimensional minimal supergravity is given by [34]

$$\left(\nabla_a + \frac{1}{4\sqrt{3}} F_{bc} \left(\gamma_a{}^{bc} + 4\delta_a^b \gamma^c\right)\right) \epsilon = 0, \tag{239}$$

where abc... are five-dimensional orthonormal frame indices, ∇_a is the spinor Levi–Civita connection, and the gamma matrices satisfy $\{\gamma_a, \gamma_b\} = -2g_{ab}$. Let us now choose a frame $\{e_a\} = \{e_A, e_5\}$, A = 0, ..., 3 and co-frame such that

$$e^5 := e^{-\Phi/\sqrt{3}}\eta, \qquad e^A := e^{\Phi/2\sqrt{3}}E^A, \qquad \mathcal{L}_W e^a = 0,$$
 (240)

where η is the U(1)-connection, and $\{E^A\}_{A=0}^3$ is a co-frame of the four-dimensional metric $g^{(4)}$, and the U(1) Killing field in this frame is $W = e^{-\Phi/\sqrt{3}}e_5$.

The lie derivative of the Killing spinor with respect to W (which we assume to vanish) is defined as [76]

$$0 = \mathcal{L}_W \epsilon := \nabla_W \epsilon - \frac{1}{4} dW^{\flat} \cdot \epsilon = W(\epsilon) - \frac{1}{8} \left[2\iota_W \omega_{ab} + (dW^{\flat})_{ab} \right] \gamma^a \gamma^b \epsilon, \quad (241)$$

where ω_{ab} is the spin connection. One can check that in this frame $(dW^{\flat})_{ab} = -2\iota_W\omega_{ab}$, hence (241) simplifies to

$$\mathcal{L}_W \epsilon = e^{-\Phi/\sqrt{3}} e_5(\epsilon) = 0. \tag{242}$$

We now derive the four-dimensional Killing spinor equation from the five-dimensional one. Let us write the following field components in the four-dimensional co-frame:

$$d\Phi =: \Phi_A E^A, \qquad d\rho =: \rho_A E^A,$$

$$G^{(4)} =: \frac{1}{2} G^{(4)}_{AB} E^A \wedge E^B, \qquad F^{(4)} =: \frac{1}{2} F^{(4)}_{AB} E^A \wedge E^B. \tag{243}$$

In this frame (239) is given by

$$KSE_{A} = e^{-\Phi/2\sqrt{3}} \left(\nabla_{A}^{(4)} - \frac{1}{4\sqrt{3}} \Phi_{B} \gamma_{A}^{B} - \frac{e^{-\sqrt{3}\Phi/2}}{4} G_{AB}^{(4)} \gamma^{B} \gamma^{5} + \frac{e^{-\Phi/2\sqrt{3}}}{4\sqrt{3}} F_{BC}^{(4)} \left(\gamma^{BC} \gamma_{A} + 2\delta_{A}^{B} \gamma^{C} \right) + \frac{e^{\Phi/\sqrt{3}}}{2\sqrt{3}} \rho_{B} \left(\gamma_{A}^{B} \gamma^{5} + 2\delta_{A}^{B} \gamma^{5} \right) \right) \epsilon = 0,$$

$$KSE_{5} = \left(\frac{e^{-\Phi/2\sqrt{3}}}{2\sqrt{3}} \Phi_{B} \gamma^{5} \gamma^{B} + \frac{e^{-2\Phi/\sqrt{3}}}{8} G_{BC}^{(4)} \gamma^{BC} + \frac{e^{-\Phi/\sqrt{3}}}{4\sqrt{3}} F_{BC}^{(4)} \gamma_{5} \gamma^{BC} - \frac{e^{\Phi/2\sqrt{3}}}{\sqrt{3}} \rho_{B} \gamma^{B} \right) \epsilon = 0,$$

$$(245)$$

where $\nabla^{(4)}$ denotes the four-dimensional spinor Levi-Civita connection, and for (245) we used that $0 = e_5(\epsilon)$ by (242).

Following [34], we choose the four-dimensional orientation $\eta^{(4)}$ such that $-e^5 \wedge \eta^{(4)}$ is positively oriented. Then, by multiplying (245) by $\gamma_A \gamma^5$, substituting into (244), and making use of the gamma matrix identity $\varepsilon_{abcde} \gamma^{de} = -2\gamma_{abc}$, after some gamma-matrix algebra we get that (244–245) is equivalent to

$$\left(\nabla_{A}^{(4)} - \frac{1}{4\sqrt{3}}\Phi_{A} + \left(\frac{e^{-\sqrt{3}\Phi/2}}{16} \star G_{BC}^{(4)} + \frac{\sqrt{3}e^{-\Phi/2\sqrt{3}}}{8}F_{BC}^{(4)}\right)\gamma^{BC}\gamma_{A} + \frac{\sqrt{3}e^{\Phi/\sqrt{3}}}{2}\rho_{A}\gamma^{5}\right)\epsilon = 0,$$

$$\left(246\right)$$

$$\left(\Phi_{A}\gamma^{A} - \frac{\sqrt{3}e^{-\sqrt{3}\Phi/2}}{4} \star G_{AB}^{(4)}\gamma^{AB} + \frac{e^{-\Phi/2\sqrt{3}}}{2}F_{AB}^{(4)}\gamma^{AB} + 2e^{\Phi/\sqrt{3}}\rho_{A}\gamma^{5}\gamma^{A}\right)\epsilon = 0.$$

$$(247)$$

In general, a Killing spinor, that is parallel with respect to a supercovariant connection $D_A \epsilon^{(4)} =: \nabla_A \epsilon - \beta_A \epsilon^{(4)} = 0$, defines a Killing vector by its Dirac-current $\bar{\epsilon}^{(4)} \gamma^A \epsilon^{(4)}$. The Killing equation for the Dirac-current holds only if the supercovariant connection satisfies

$$\gamma_0 \beta_{(A}^{\dagger} \gamma_0 \gamma_{B)} + \gamma_{(B} \beta_{A)} = 0. \tag{248}$$

This condition is not satisfied by the Φ_A term in (246); therefore, ϵ must be rescaled so that this term is cancelled. This is achieved by setting

$$\epsilon^{(4)} := e^{-\Phi/4\sqrt{3}}\epsilon,\tag{249}$$

so that (246-247) becomes

$$\left(\nabla_A^{(4)} + \left(\frac{e^{-\sqrt{3}\Phi/2}}{16} \star G_{BC}^{(4)} + \frac{\sqrt{3}e^{-\Phi/2\sqrt{3}}}{8} F_{BC}^{(4)}\right) \gamma^{BC} \gamma_A + \frac{\sqrt{3}e^{\Phi/\sqrt{3}}}{2} \rho_A \gamma^5\right) \epsilon^{(4)} = 0,$$
(250)

$$\left(\Phi_{A}\gamma^{A} - \frac{\sqrt{3}e^{-\sqrt{3}\Phi/2}}{4} \star G_{AB}^{(4)}\gamma^{AB} + \frac{e^{-\Phi/2\sqrt{3}}}{2}F_{AB}^{(4)}\gamma^{AB} + 2e^{\Phi/\sqrt{3}}\rho_{A}\gamma^{5}\gamma^{A}\right)\epsilon^{(4)} = 0,$$
(251)

which correspond to the gravitino and dilatino transformations, respectively. Conversely, a solution of (250-251) defines a W-invariant solution of (239). Also, the rescaling of the Killing spinor compensates for the rescaling of the tetrads, thus, we have that

$$V^{(4)} = \overline{\epsilon}^{(4)} \gamma^A \epsilon^{(4)} E_A = \overline{\epsilon} \gamma^A \epsilon e^{-\Phi/2\sqrt{3}} E_A = \overline{\epsilon} \gamma^A \epsilon e_A = \pi_* \overline{\epsilon} \gamma^a \epsilon e_a = \pi_* V,$$
(252)

where in the penultimate step we used that $\pi_*e_5 = 0$ since e_5 is vertical. The supercovariant connection of (250) satisfies (248), so the four-dimensional Dirac current $V^{(4)}$ is Killing and coincides with the projection of the five-dimensional Killing vector field, as claimed.

References

[1] Heusler, M.: Black Hole Uniqueness Theorems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1996). https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511661396

- [2] Chrusciel, P.T., Lopes Costa, J., Heusler, M.: Stationary Black Holes: Uniqueness and Beyond. Living Rev. Rel. 15, 7 (2012) arXiv:1205.6112 [gr-qc]. https://doi.org/10.12942/lrr-2012-7
- [3] Hollands, S., Ishibashi, A.: Black hole uniqueness theorems in higher dimensional spacetimes. Class. Quant. Grav. 29, 163001 (2012) arXiv:1206.1164 [gr-qc]. https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/29/16/163001
- [4] Emparan, R., Reall, H.S.: A Rotating black ring solution in five-dimensions. Phys. Rev. Lett. 88, 101101 (2002) arXiv:hep-th/0110260. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.88.101101
- [5] Myers, R.C., Perry, M.J.: Black holes in higher dimensional space-times. Ann. Phys. 172, 304 (1986). https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-4916(86)90186-7
- [6] Galloway, G.J., Schoen, R.: A Generalization of Hawking's black hole topology theorem to higher dimensions. Commun. Math. Phys. 266, 571–576 (2006) arXiv:gr-qc/0509107. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-006-0019-z
- [7] Hollands, S., Holland, J., Ishibashi, A.: Further restrictions on the topology of stationary black holes in five dimensions. Ann. H. Poincare 12, 279–301 (2011) arXiv:1002.0490 [gr-qc]. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00023-011-0079-2
- [8] Hollands, S., Ishibashi, A., Wald, R.M.: A Higher dimensional stationary rotating black hole must be axisymmetric. Commun. Math. Phys. 271, 699-722 (2007) arXiv:gr-qc/0605106. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-007-0216-4
- [9] Moncrief, V., Isenberg, J.: Symmetries of Higher Dimensional Black Holes. Class.
 Quant. Grav. 25, 195015 (2008) arXiv:0805.1451 [gr-qc]. https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/25/19/195015
- [10] Hollands, S., Ishibashi, A.: On the 'stationary implies axisymmetric' theorem for extremal black holes in higher dimensions. Commun. Math. Phys. 291, 443–471 (2009) arXiv:0809.2659 [gr-qc]. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-009-0841-1
- [11] Friedman, J.L., Schleich, K., Witt, D.M.: Topological censorship. Phys. Rev. Lett. 71, 1486–1489 (1993) arXiv:gr-qc/9305017. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.71.1486.[Erratum: Phys.Rev.Lett. 75, 1872 (1995)]
- [12] Chrusciel, P.T., Galloway, G.J., Solis, D.: Topological censorship for Kaluza-Klein space-times. Ann. H. Poincare 10, 893–912 (2009) arXiv:0808.3233 [gr-qc]. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00023-009-0005-z
- [13] Hollands, S., Yazadjiev, S.: Uniqueness theorem for 5-dimensional black holes with two axial Killing fields. Commun. Math. Phys. **283**, 749–768 (2008) arXiv:0707.2775 [gr-qc]. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-008-0516-3
- [14] Hollands, S., Yazadjiev, S.: A Uniqueness theorem for 5-dimensional Einstein-Maxwell black holes. Class. Quant. Grav. 25, 095010 (2008) arXiv:0711.1722 [gr-qc]. https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/25/9/095010
- [15] Hollands, S., Yazadjiev, S.: A Uniqueness theorem for stationary Kaluza-Klein black holes. Commun. Math. Phys. 302, 631-674 (2011) arXiv:0812.3036 [gr-qc]. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-010-1176-7
- [16] Reall, H.S.: Higher dimensional black holes and supersymmetry. Phys. Rev. D 68, 024024 (2003) arXiv:hep-th/0211290. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 70.089902. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 70, 089902 (2004)]
- [17] Emparan, R., Harmark, T., Niarchos, V., Obers, N.A.: New Horizons for Black Holes and Branes. JHEP 04, 046 (2010) arXiv:0912.2352 [hep-th]. https://doi. org/10.1007/JHEP04(2010)046

- [18] Dias, O.J.C., Figueras, P., Monteiro, R., Reall, H.S., Santos, J.E.: An instability of higher-dimensional rotating black holes. JHEP 05, 076 (2010) arXiv:1001.4527 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP05(2010)076
- [19] Katona, D., Lucietti, J.: Supersymmetric Black Holes with a Single Axial Symmetry in Five Dimensions. Commun. Math. Phys. 399(2), 1151–1201 (2023) arXiv:2206.11782 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-022-04576-7
- [20] Breckenridge, J.C., Myers, R.C., Peet, A.W., Vafa, C.: D-branes and spinning black holes. Phys. Lett. B 391, 93–98 (1997) arXiv:hep-th/9602065. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0370-2693(96)01460-8
- [21] Elvang, H., Emparan, R., Mateos, D., Reall, H.S.: A Supersymmetric black ring. Phys. Rev. Lett. 93, 211302 (2004) arXiv:hep-th/0407065. https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevLett.93.211302
- [22] Gauntlett, J.P., Gutowski, J.B.: Concentric black rings. Phys. Rev. D 71, 025013 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.71.025013. arXiv:hep-th/0408010
- [23] Horowitz, G.T., Kunduri, H.K., Lucietti, J.: Comments on Black Holes in Bubbling Spacetimes. JHEP 06, 048 (2017) arXiv:1704.04071 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP06(2017)048
- [24] Breunhölder, V., Lucietti, J.: Supersymmetric black hole non-uniqueness in five dimensions. JHEP 03, 105 (2019) arXiv:1812.07329 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10. 1007/JHEP03(2019)105
- [25] Strominger, A., Vafa, C.: Microscopic origin of the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy. Phys. Lett. B 379, 99–104 (1996) arXiv:hep-th/9601029. https://doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(96)00345-0
- [26] Kunduri, H.K., Lucietti, J.: Supersymmetric Black Holes with Lens-Space Topology. Phys. Rev. Lett. 113(21), 211101 (2014) arXiv:1408.6083 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.113.211101
- [27] Tomizawa, S., Nozawa, M.: Supersymmetric black lenses in five dimensions. Phys. Rev. D 94(4), 044037 (2016) arXiv:1606.06643 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.94.044037
- [28] Tomizawa, S., Okuda, T.: Asymptotically flat multiblack lenses. Phys. Rev. D 95(6), 064021 (2017) arXiv:1701.06402 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.95.064021
- [29] Breunhölder, V., Lucietti, J.: Moduli space of supersymmetric solitons and black holes in five dimensions. Commun. Math. Phys. 365(2), 471–513 (2019) arXiv:1712.07092 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-018-3215-8
- [30] Tomizawa, S.: Kaluza-Klein black lens in five dimensions. Phys. Rev. D 98(2), 024012 (2018) arXiv:1803.11470 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 98.024012
- [31] Bena, I., Warner, N.P.: Bubbling supertubes and foaming black holes. Phys. Rev. D **74**, 066001 (2006) arXiv:hep-th/0505166. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD. 74.066001
- [32] Bena, I., Warner, N.P.: Black holes, black rings and their microstates. Lect. Notes Phys. 755, 1–92 (2008) arXiv:hep-th/0701216. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-79523-0_1
- [33] Kunduri, H.K., Lucietti, J.: Black hole non-uniqueness via spacetime topology in five dimensions. JHEP 10, 082 (2014) arXiv:1407.8002 [hep-th]. https://doi. org/10.1007/JHEP10(2014)082

- [34] Gauntlett, J.P., Gutowski, J.B., Hull, C.M., Pakis, S., Reall, H.S.: All super-symmetric solutions of minimal supergravity in five- dimensions. Class. Quant. Grav. 20, 4587–4634 (2003) arXiv:hep-th/0209114. https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/20/21/005
- [35] Bena, I., Warner, N.P.: One ring to rule them all ... and in the darkness bind them? Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 9(5), 667–701 (2005) arXiv:hep-th/0408106. https://doi.org/10.4310/ATMP.2005.v9.n5.a1
- [36] Hawking, S.W.: Gravitational instantons. Phys. Lett. A 60, 81 (1977). https://doi.org/10.1016/0375-9601(77)90386-3
- [37] Gibbons, G.W., Hawking, S.W.: Gravitational multi-instantons. Phys. Lett. B 78, 430 (1978). https://doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(78)90478-1
- [38] Gibbons, G.W., Ruback, P.J.: The hidden symmetries of multicenter metrics. Commun. Math. Phys. 115, 267 (1988). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01466773
- [39] Elvang, H., Emparan, R., Mateos, D., Reall, H.S.: Supersymmetric 4-D rotating black holes from 5-D black rings. JHEP $\bf 08$, 042 (2005) arXiv:hep-th/0504125. https://doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2005/08/042
- [40] Gaiotto, D., Strominger, A., Yin, X.: 5D black rings and 4D black holes. JHEP 02, 023 (2006) arXiv:hep-th/0504126. https://doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2006/ 02/023
- [41] Bena, I., Kraus, P., Warner, N.P.: Black rings in Taub-NUT. Phys. Rev. D 72, 084019 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.72.084019. (arXiv:hep-th/0504142)
- [42] Ishihara, H., Matsuno, K.: Kaluza-Klein black holes with squashed horizons. Prog. Theor. Phys. 116, 417–422 (2006) arXiv:hep-th/0510094. https://doi.org/ 10.1143/PTP.116.417
- [43] Ishihara, H., Kimura, M., Matsuno, K., Tomizawa, S.: Kaluza-Klein Multi-Black Holes in Five-Dimensional Einstein-Maxwell Theory. Class. Quant. Grav. 23, 6919–6926 (2006) arXiv:hep-th/0605030. https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/ 23/23/019
- [44] Nakagawa, T., Ishihara, H., Matsuno, K., Tomizawa, S.: Charged Rotating Kaluza-Klein Black Holes in Five Dimensions. Phys. Rev. D 77, 044040 (2008) arXiv:0801.0164 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.77.044040
- [45] Matsuno, K., Ishihara, H., Nakagawa, T., Tomizawa, S.: Rotating Kaluza-Klein Multi-Black Holes with Godel Parameter. Phys. Rev. D 78, 064016 (2008) arXiv:0806.3316 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.78.064016
- [46] Tomizawa, S., Ishibashi, A.: Charged Black Holes in a Rotating Gross-Perry-Sorkin Monopole Background. Class. Quant. Grav. 25, 245007 (2008) arXiv:0807.1564 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/25/24/245007
- [47] Tomizawa, S., Ishihara, H., Matsuno, K., Nakagawa, T.: Squashed Kerr-Godel Black Holes: Kaluza-Klein Black Holes with Rotations of Black Hole and Universe. Prog. Theor. Phys. 121, 823–841 (2009) arXiv:0803.3873 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10.1143/PTP.121.823
- [48] Tomizawa, S.: Compactified black holes in five-dimensional $U(1)^3$ ungauged supergravity (2010) arXiv:1009.3568 [hep-th]
- [49] Tomizawa, S., Ishihara, H.: Exact solutions of higher dimensional black holes. Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 189, 7–51 (2011) arXiv:1104.1468 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10.1143/PTPS.189.7

- [50] Tomizawa, S., Mizoguchi, S.: General Kaluza-Klein black holes with all six independent charges in five-dimensional minimal supergravity. Phys. Rev. D 87(2), 024027 (2013) arXiv:1210.6723 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.87.024027
- [51] Tomizawa, S.: Uniqueness theorems for Kaluza-Klein black holes in five-dimensional minimal supergravity. Phys. Rev. D 82, 104047 (2010) arXiv:1007.1183 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.82.104047
- [52] Gaiotto, D., Strominger, A., Yin, X.: New connections between 4-D and 5-D black holes. JHEP 02, 024 (2006) arXiv:hep-th/0503217. https://doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2006/02/024
- [53] Behrndt, K., Lopes Cardoso, G., Mahapatra, S.: Exploring the relation between 4-D and 5-D BPS solutions. Nucl. Phys. B **732**, 200–223 (2006) arXiv:hep-th/0506251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2005.10.026
- [54] Denef, F.: Supergravity flows and D-brane stability. JHEP 08, 050 (2000). https://doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2000/08/050. arXiv:hep-th/0005049
- [55] Denef, F., Greene, B.R., Raugas, M.: Split attractor flows and the spectrum of BPS D-branes on the quintic. JHEP 05, 012 (2001) arXiv:hep-th/0101135. https://doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2001/05/012
- [56] Bates, B., Denef, F.: Exact solutions for supersymmetric stationary black hole composites. JHEP 11, 127 (2011) arXiv:hep-th/0304094. https://doi.org/10. 1007/JHEP11(2011)127
- [57] Gibbons, G.W., Horowitz, G.T., Townsend, P.K.: Higher dimensional resolution of dilatonic black hole singularities. Class. Quant. Grav. 12, 297–318 (1995) arXiv:hep-th/9410073. https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/12/2/004
- [58] Kayani, U.: Symmetry enhancement of extremal horizons in D = 5 supergravity. Class. Quant. Grav. 35(12), 125013 (2018) arXiv:1801.08833 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6382/aac30c
- [59] Gutowski, J.B., Martelli, D., Reall, H.S.: All Supersymmetric solutions of minimal supergravity in six- dimensions. Class. Quant. Grav. 20, 5049–5078 (2003) arXiv:hep-th/0306235. https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/20/23/008
- [60] Chrusciel, P.T., Maerten, D.: Killing vectors in asymptotically flat spacetimes. II. Asymptotically translational Killing vectors and the rigid positive energy theorem in higher dimensions. J. Math. Phys. 47, 022502 (2006) arXiv:gr-qc/0512042. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2167809
- [61] Beig, R., Chrusciel, P.T.: Killing vectors in asymptotically flat space-times: 1. Asymptotically translational Killing vectors and the rigid positive energy theorem. J. Math. Phys. 37, 1939–1961 (1996) arXiv:gr-qc/9510015. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.531497
- [62] Chrusciel, P.T.: On the Invariant Mass Conjecture in General Relativity. Commun. Math. Phys. 120, 233 (1988). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01217963
- [63] Fintushel, R.: Circle actions on simply connected 4-manifolds. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 230, 147–171 (1977). https://doi.org/10.1090/S0002-9947-1977-0458456-6
- [64] Fintushel, R.: Classification of circle actions on 4-manifolds. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 242, 377–390 (1978). https://doi.org/10.1090/S0002-9947-1978-0496815-7
- [65] Gibbons, G.W., Hawking, S.W.: Classification of Gravitational Instanton Symmetries. Commun. Math. Phys. 66, 291–310 (1979). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01197189

- [66] Lee, J.M.: Introduction to Riemannian Manifolds. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 176. Springer, Cham (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-91755-9
- [67] Axler, S., Bourdon, P., Ramey, W.: Harmonic Function Theory. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 137. Springer, New York, NY (2001). https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-1-4757-8137-3
- [68] Horn, R.A., Johnson, C.R.: Matrix Analysis. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1985). https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511810817
- [69] Dunajski, M., Hartnoll, S.A.: Einstein-Maxwell gravitational instantons and five dimensional solitonic strings. Class. Quant. Grav. 24, 1841–1862 (2007) arXiv:hep-th/0610261. https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/24/7/010
- [70] Avila, J., Ramirez, P.F., Ruiperez, A.: One Thousand and One Bubbles. JHEP 01, 041 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP01(2018)041. arXiv:1709.03985 [hep-th]
- [71] Bertolini, M., Trigiante, M., Fre, P.: N=8 BPS black holes preserving 1/8 supersymmetry. Class. Quant. Grav. 16, 1519–1543 (1999) arXiv:hep-th/9811251. https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/16/5/305
- [72] Figueroa-O'Farrill, J.M., Simon, J.: Supersymmetric Kaluza-Klein reductions of AdS backgrounds. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 8(2), 217–317 (2004) arXiv:hep-th/0401206. https://doi.org/10.4310/ATMP.2004.v8.n2.a1
- [73] Figueroa-O'Farrill, J., Franchetti, G.: Kaluza-Klein reductions of maximally supersymmetric five-dimensional Lorentzian spacetimes. Class. Quant. Grav. 39(21), 215009 (2022) arXiv:2207.07430 [hep-th]. https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1361-6382/ac9108
- [74] Tod, K.P.: More on supercovariantly constant spinors. Class. Quant. Grav. 12, 1801–1820 (1995). https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/12/7/020
- [75] Chrusciel, P.T., Reall, H.S., Tod, P.: On Israel-Wilson-Perjes black holes. Class. Quant. Grav. 23, 2519–2540 (2006) arXiv:gr-qc/0512116. https://doi.org/10. 1088/0264-9381/23/7/018
- [76] Fatibene, L., Ferraris, M., Francaviglia, M., Godina, M.: A Geometric definition of Lie derivative for spinor fields. In: 6th International Conference on Differential Geometry and Applications (1996)

David Katona

School of Mathematics and Maxwell Institute for Mathematical Sciences University of Edinburgh

King's Buildings

Edinburgh EH9 3JZ

UK

e-mail: d.katona@sms.ed.ac.uk

Communicated by Mihalis Dafermos.

Received: August 4, 2023. Accepted: January 4, 2024.